
LICENSING COMMITTEE 
Tuesday, 22 March 2016 at 7.30pm 
Council Chamber - Civic Centre 

 
AGENDA 

 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
2. Declarations of Interest   
 
 Councillors’ declarations of interest (if any) in relation to any matters on 

the agenda. 
 

3. Minutes  (Pages 2 - 3) 
 
 To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 19 January 2016. 

 
4. Matters Arising   
 
5. Written Questions and Petitions   
 
6. Committee Work Plan  (Page 4) 
 
7. Public Space Protection Orders  (Pages 5 - 7) 
 
8. Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Policy  (Pages 8 - 73) 
 
9. Taxi and Private Hire Licensing, Report on Consultation  (Pages 74 - 85) 
 
10. References from Other Committees   
 
 Any references arising from meetings held after the publication of this 

agenda will be circulated separately 
 

 a) Reference from Scrutiny Committee - Review of Fixed Odds 
Betting Terminals  (Pages 86 - 92) 

 
  The Scrutiny Committee recommended to the Licensing 

Committee that the Council’s Statement of Gambling Act Licensing 
Policy be reviewed to place more emphasis on local risks as set 
out at paragraph 29 of the report. 
 

11. Matters of Urgent Business   
 
 Such other business which, in the opinion of the Chairman, should be 

considered as a matter of urgency by reason of special circumstances to 
be specified in the minutes. 
 

Public Document Pack



 

MINUTES OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE 

HELD ON 

 

19 January 2016 7.30pm  - 7.50 pm 
 

PRESENT 

 

Committee Members 
Councillor Maggie Hulcoop (Chairman) 
Councillor Ian Beckett 
Councillor Nick Churchill 
Councillor Karen Clempner 
Councillor Tony Hall 
Councillor Danny Purton 
Councillor Edna Stevens 
 

 
Officers 

Michael Pitt, Environment and Licensing Manager 
Denise Westwood, Junior Legal Assistant 
Jo Maskell, Governance Support Officer 
 

 
APOLOGIES  
Councillor John Strachan 
Councillor Bill Pryor 
 
 
30. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
None. 
 

31. MINUTES  

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 17 November 
2015 are agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 

 
32. MATTERS ARISING  

 
None. 
 

33. WRITTEN QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS  

 
None. 
 

34. COMMITTEE WORK PLAN  

 
The Committee received the Committee’s Work Plan for the remainder of 
the municipal year. 
 

Public Document Pack

2

Agenda Item 3



It was noted that as the revised Gambling Commission Guidance had now 
been published, the report ‘Substantive Review of Gambling Act Licensing 
Policy Statement’ could be allocated to the next meeting of this 
Committee.   
 
The Committee’s attention was drawn to an issue which had been raised 
recently regarding certain wording in the Standard Conditions for Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Drivers Licensing.  It was noted that the 
intention was to review the Standard Conditions and that in the meantime, 
Officers would investigate whether any interim measures could be 
introduced to ensure that the wording was legally water-tight. 
 
 RESOLVED that  
 

(a) the Work Plan is noted; 
 
(b) the report ‘Substantive Review of Gambling Act Licensing 

Policy Statement’ be allocated to the 22 March 2016 meeting 
of this Committee;   

 
(c) a Review of the Standard Conditions for Hackney Carriage 

and Private Hire Driver Licensing is added to the Work Plan. 
 

35. REVIEW OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE 

MOT AND COMPLIANCE TESTING ARRANGEMENTS  

 
The Committee received a report on the recent review of Hackney 
Carriage and private hire vehicle MOT and compliance testing. 
 
The Committee noted a minor correction to paragraph 9 of the report, 
which should have read that there was an option to extend the contract for 
a further two years (not 36 months).  
 
The Committee was pleased to note that the review had concluded that 
the current arrangements were working satisfactorily.   
 

RESOLVED that the current approach to MOT and compliance 
testing for Hackney Carriage and private hire vehicle licensing is 
maintained until re-procurement is required.  

 
36. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES  

 
None. 
 

37. MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS  

 
None.

 CHAIRMAN OF THE COMMITTEE 
 

3



LICENSING COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 2015/16       
 

   

Unallocated Items  
o   Quarterly Reporting of NHS Statistical Data   

(Min5,7/7/15- – to update  the first Committee 
meeting of 2016/17 on the re-establishment of links 
with Essex County Council.)  

 

Michael Pitt 

o   Update the Street Trading Licensing Policy  
         to Take Account of Revised Legislation  
         (Awaiting changes to the legislation) 
         

Michael Pitt 
 
 

o   Review of the Policy for Charity Collections 
(subject to publication of government guidance         
25, 12/11/13)  

Michael Pitt 
 
 

o   Review of Standard Conditions for 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver 
Licensing (35 19/1/16)      

Michael Pitt 
 
 
 

Standing Items  
o Licensing Sub-Committee Decisions 

(Annual report to first meeting in the municipal year 
6,9/7/13) 

Michael Pitt 
 
 

 

4

Agenda Item 6



REPORT TO: LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 22 MARCH 2016 
 

TITLE: PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDERS 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

MICHAEL PITT (01279) 446114 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER: DAVID TAYLOR (01279) 446148 
 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A The Licensing Committee note the Council’s arrangements for 

implementation of Public Space Protection Orders. 
 

BACKGROUND 
 
1.  Section 13 of the Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001 and Section 26 of the 

Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006 provided the Council with power to make, 
in accordance with proper procedure, Designated Public Places Orders 
[DPPOs] in areas that had experienced alcohol-related disorder or nuisance. 
DPPOs placed restrictions on public drinking. 
  

2.  Decisions on making DPPOs had been made through the Licensing 
Committee in accord with the Council’s Constitution reflecting the 
Committee’s role with regard to regulation of alcohol supply under the 
Licensing Act 2003 and the focus of DPPOs on consumption of alcohol. 
 

3.  The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 provided for a 
number of changes commenced over time intended to streamline and 
rationalise the powers available to the Council, Police and partners dealing 
with anti-social behaviour.  One of these changes was the introduction of 
Public Space Protection Orders [PSPOs], which in effect subsumed the role 
of DPPOs and broadened their application to a much wider range of 
triggering circumstances and control measures.  PSPOs are not specifically 
focussed on alcohol consumption and are most closely aligned with anti-
social behaviour.  
 

4.  The Council considered the range of changes made by the Anti-social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 that affected its functions and 
adopted revised corporate Anti-social Behaviour Policy at Full Council on  
22 October 2015.  This report advises the Licensing Committee of the effect 
of that Policy with regard to transition from use of DPPOs to PSPOs.  

 

 

5

Agenda Item 7



 
ISSUES/PROPOSALS 

5.  Formal declaration of PSPOs lies within the remit of the Councils Community 
Safety Team, reflecting their role in leading on community safety matters in 
liaison with Essex Police and other partners.  Where there are circumstances 
that appear to demand a PSPO, relevant services and partners will liaise with 
the Community SafetyTeam in the context of the Safer Harlow Partnership.  
 

6.  This will ensure that a balanced approach is maintained and the opportunity is 
not lost to introduce a range of controls that appear appropriate. 
 

7.  Existing DPPOs remain in force for a “sunset” period and will then lapse.  The 
Safer Harlow Partnership will consider whether the controls they provide 
remain necessary; whether the controls in relation to alcohol consumption 
remain appropriate; and whether measures to deal with other matters are 
required; in determining whether to replace them with PSPOs.  
 

8.  The Licensing Team have historically maintained close liaison with the 
Council’s Community Safety Team and will continue to do so in relation to 
PSPOs, particularly where a specific issue that relates to premises licensed 
by the Council arises.  
 

9.  Where an issue arises in relation to PSPOs that requires a decision on 
licensing policy matters, the Licensing Team will report to the Licensing 
Committee.  
 

10.  Should any concerns arising in connection with the Licensing Committee 
functions in relation to PSPOs, the Licensing team will liaise with the 
Council’s Community Safety Team and advise the Committee as appropriate. 

 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (includes Sustainability) 
Contained within the report. 
Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
None specific. 
Author: John Dyson Principal Finance Manager for Simon Freeman, Head of 
Finance 
 
Housing 
None specific. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 

6



 
 
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
Contained within the report. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (includes HR) 
None specific – no potential issues arising from the procedures which have been 
put in place are foreseen. Appropriate legal advice will be given on any specific 
issues as required. 
Author: Dimple Roopchand, Assistant Solicitor on behalf of Brian Keane, 
Head of Governance 
 
 
Background Papers 
[These are papers referred to in the preparation of the report that are not 
attached as appendices but that are available for public or Councillor study.] 
 
Harlow Council Anti-social Behaviour Policy 
http://www.harlow.gov.uk/sites/harlow/files/documents/files/Anti-
social%20Behaviour%20Policy.pdf   
 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
DPPOs        Designated Public Places Orders  
 
PSPOs        Public Space Protection Orders 
 

7

http://www.harlow.gov.uk/sites/harlow/files/documents/files/Anti-social%20Behaviour%20Policy.pdf
http://www.harlow.gov.uk/sites/harlow/files/documents/files/Anti-social%20Behaviour%20Policy.pdf


REPORT TO: LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 22 MARCH 2016 
 

TITLE: GAMBLING ACT 2005 STATEMENT OF 
POLICY  
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

MICHAEL PITT (01279) 446114 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER: DAVID TAYLOR (01279) 446148 
 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A The Licensing Committee approve the proposed approach to development of 

a replacement Statement of Gambling Act Policy set out at paragraphs 5 to 8 
of the report. 

  
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1.  Harlow Council is the local ‘Licensing Authority’ for the purposes of the 

Gambling Act 2005 (the Act).  The Licensing Authority must publish a 
Statement of Gambling Act Policy and review the Policy at not less than 
three-yearly intervals.  The Gambling Commission under Section 25 of the 
Act provides guidance to licensing authorities on how they should discharge 
their functions and duties.  
 

2.  The Council’s current policy was published on 22 February 2016 and is due 
to be reviewed before 21 March 2019.  However it reflected the 4th Edition of 
the Gambling Commission’s guidance (GLA 4) issued in September 2012, 
which was current at the time of drafting and consultation.  A new 5th edition 
of the Commission’s guidance (GLA 5) has since been published. 
 

3.  The Council’s Scrutiny Committee, at its meeting of 2 February 2016, 
considered a report on Fixed Odds Betting Terminals, permitted in Betting 
premises licensed by the Council and resolved to recommend to the 
Licensing Committee that the Council’s Statement of Gambling Act Licensing 
Policy be reviewed to place more emphasis on local risks as set out at 
paragraph 29 of the report submitted. 
 

4.  There is therefore a good case for the Council to review its Statement of 
Gambling Act Policy now well ahead of the 2019 deadline.  The purpose of 
this report is to allow members of the Licensing Committee sight of a first 
stage draft of a replacement Statement of Policy, so that the overall form and 
proposed approach to the most significant changes required by GLA5 may be 
approved in advance of development work. 

8

Agenda Item 8



 
ISSUES/PROPOSALS 

5.  In the past Harlow Council has worked closely with partner licensing 
authorities in Essex to develop a common model Statement of Gambling Act 
Policy, onto which individual licensing authorities may superimpose specific 
local requirements where they arise. This is helpful to businesses who may 
operate across borders and to partner enforcement agencies such as the 
Gambling Commission who benefit from the resulting consistency, as well as 
offering a valued economy in officer time.  It is proposed that a similar 
approach is adopted when developing the current draft statement for 
consultation. 
 

6.  The first stage draft at Appendix 1 is incomplete: minor and consequential 
amendments to text and numbering will be required, for example as will 
addition of appendices.  However the draft document is presented in this form 
to give context to the significant areas of change highlighted in bold italic text, 
now requiring a local profile of risk to be developed and for locality specific 
issues to be taken into account in decisions.  
 

7.  It is proposed subject to the views of Licensing Committee that the shared 
core of the draft be refined in consultation with licensing teams in Essex; that 
a completed draft for consultation be presented to Licensing Committee at its 
first meeting of the next municipal year; and that the local profiling work 
referred to in the draft be pursued in Harlow, to support decisions made after 
the adoption of the replacement Statement.  
 

8.  A revised Statement of Gambling Act Policy would then be adopted, subject 
to consultation, in January 2017.  
 

IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (includes Sustainability) 
Contained within the report. 
Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
None specific resulting from this initial draft. 
Author: John Dyson Principal Finance Manager for Simon Freeman, Head of 
Finance  
 
Housing 
None at this time: progress with developing a draft is noted. Any specific 
comments on the proposed Statement of Policy will be made when a finalised 
draft is presented. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 

9



 
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
None specific at this time. 
Author: Jane Greer Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (includes HR) 
None at this time. The current position and proposals to implement the revised 
guidance is noted. Full legal implications on the proposed Gambling Act 
Statement of Policy will be considered when a finalised draft is presented. 
Author: Dimple Roopchand Assistant Solicitor for Brian Keane Head of 
Governance 
 
 
Background Papers 
[These are papers referred to in the preparation of the report that are not 
attached as appendices but that are available for public or Councillor study.] 
 
5th edition of the Commission’s guidance (GLA 5): 
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Licensing-authorities/Information-for-
licensing-authorities/Guidance-to-licensing-authorities.aspx  
 
 
 
 
 

10

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Licensing-authorities/Information-for-licensing-authorities/Guidance-to-licensing-authorities.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Licensing-authorities/Information-for-licensing-authorities/Guidance-to-licensing-authorities.aspx


DRAFT V1 22/03/2016 
 

HARLOW COUNCIL 
 

DRAFT 
Gambling Licensing 

Policy Statement 
2016- 

 
 

 
 

11



DRAFT V1 22/03/2016 
 

 HHAARRLLOOWW  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  
  GGAAMMBBLLIINNGG  LLIICCEENNSSIINNGG  PPOOLLIICCYY  SSTTAATTEEMMEENNTT  

22001166-- 

 

 
Contents Page 
 Foreword  3 
PART A – General   
1-1.1 Introduction 4 

2-2.1 The Licensing Objectives 4 

3-3.1 Description of District 4 

4-4.5 Responsibilities under the Act 5 

5-5.3 Statement of Licensing Policy 6 

6-6.6 Consultation 6 

7-7.2 Approval of Policy 7 

8-8.2 Declaration 7 

9-9,3 Responsible Authorities 7 

10-10.6 Interested Parties 8 

11-11.2 Exchange of information 9 

12-12.1 Public Register 10 

13-13.5 Compliance and Enforcement 10 

14-14.1 Delegation of Powers 11 

PART B – Premises Licences   

15-15.15 General Principles 11 

16-16.1 Provisional Statements 15 

17-17.4 Representations and Reviews 16 

18-18.2 Adult Gaming Centres 16 

18-19.2 (Licensed) Family Entertainment 
Centres 17 

20-20.4 Casinos 17 

21-21.3 Bingo Premises 18 

22-22.3 Betting Premises 18 

23-23.1 Tracks 18 

24-24.1 Travelling Fairs 18 
 

12



 
 

1 

 
PART C – Permits/ 
Registrations   

25-25.1 General 19 

26-26.2 Unlicensed Family Entertainment 
Centre Gaming Machine Permits 19 

27-27.4 (Alcohol) Licensed Premises Gaming 
Machine Permits 20 

28-28.2 Prize Gaming Permits 20 

29-29.2 Club Gaming and Club Machine 
Permits 21 

   

   

   
PART D –Occasional and 
Temporary permissions   

31- 31.5 Temporary Use Notices 28 

32-32.4 Occasional Use Notices 28 

33-33.1 Small Society Lotteries 29 
 
APPENDICES 
 
The following appendices do not form part of the approved Statement of 
Gambling Licensing Policy but are included to assist applicants in meeting the 
requirements of the licensing process. 
 
A Definitions  

B Contact Details of Responsible 
Authorities  

C Application Process  

D Description of the District  

E Advice for those who have difficulty in 
understanding English  

F Terms of Reference and Delegated 
Powers  

G List of Consultees  

H Useful Contacts  
 

13



 
 

2 

Foreword to Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 
 
 
 
The Gambling Act 2005 provides the legal framework for the licensing and regulation of 
commercial gambling in this Country.  One of the responsibilities placed by the Act on local 
authorities, is to produce a Gambling Policy Statement.  This is the fifth Statement of 
Licensing Policy produced by Harlow Council since the law came into effect.  It provides the 
basis for all gambling related licensing decisions taken by the Council as the Licensing 
Authority over the next three years, commencing on [DATE].  
 
In applying this policy the Council will not be promoting gambling nor will it be restricting 
opportunities for individuals who wish to participate in Gambling. The statement simply sets 
out the principles that Harlow Council will apply in exercising its licensing functions under the 
Act.  In applying the principles contained in this policy the Council seeks to work in partnership 
with the gambling industry and other bodies to ensure proper application of the statutory 
licensing objectives:  
 

• Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 
with crime or disorder, or being used to support crime; 

• Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; and  
• Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 

by gambling. 
 
This policy has been produced in accordance with provisions of the Act, Regulations and 
Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission. It will be kept under review and will be 
amended when issues arise that make change necessary. In making decisions under this 
policy, the Council as the licensing authority will aim to achieve an effective balance between 
meeting the objectives of the Gambling Act 2005 and facilitating the sustainable economic 
growth of the borough.   
 
 
[For Harlow Council] 
 
 

 
PART A 

GENERAL 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1 This Statement of Licensing Policy sets out the principles by which Harlow 

Council, as the Licensing Authority under the Gambling Act 2005 (referred to in 
this document as ‘the Act’), intends to apply in discharging its functions to 
license premises for gambling under the Act as well as:- 
 
 designating the body responsible for advising the Authority on the 

protection of children from harm; 
 
 determining whether or not a person is an “Interested Party”; 

14



 
 

3 

 
 exchanging information with the Gambling Commission and others; and 
 
 inspecting premises and instituting court proceedings for offences 

committed under the Act. 
 

2.0 THE LICENSING OBJECTIVES 
 
2.1 In exercising most of its functions under the Act, Licensing Authorities must 

have regard to the Licensing Objectives as set out in Section 1 of the Act.  The 
Licensing Objectives are:- 

 
• Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 

associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime; 
 

• Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; and 
 

• Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling. 

 
3.0 DESCRIPTION OF THE DISTRICT 
 
3.1 Harlow is situated in the County of Essex, which comprises twelve District and 

Borough and City Councils and two Unitary Authorities and borders 
Hertfordshire.  Harlow has a population of approximately 82,000 and covers an 
area of some 12 square miles. 

 
 
Note: 
Further description of the district can be found in Appendix D 

 

15



 
 

4 

4.0 RESPONSIBILITIES UNDER THE ACT 
 
4.1 The Act introduced a licensing regime for commercial gambling, to be 

conducted by the Gambling Commission and by Licensing Authorities, 
depending on the matter to be licensed. 

 
4.2 The Act establishes each District or Borough Council as the Licensing Authority 

whose responsibilities must be discharged by the Licensing Committee created 
under Section 6 of the Licensing Act 2003.  Harlow Borough Council is the 
Licensing Authority for the Harlow District. 

 
4.3 The Gambling Commission is responsible for issuing Operating and Personal 

licences to persons and organisations who:- 
 

 operate a casino; 
 
 provide facilities for playing bingo or for pool betting; 

 
 provide betting or act as intermediaries for betting; 

 
 make gaming machines available for use in Adult Gaming Centres and 

Family Entertainment Centres; 
 

 manufacture, supply, install, adapt, maintain or repair gaming machines; 
 

 manufacture, supply, install or adapt gambling machine software; or 
 

 promote a lottery. 
 
4.4 The Licensing Authority is responsible for licensing premises in which gambling  

takes place.  All types of gambling are included, other than spread betting and 
the National Lottery.  It is also responsible for issuing permits for premises with 
gaming machines and for receiving notices from operators wishing to use 
unlicensed premises for gambling on a temporary basis.  The Licensing 
Authority has additional responsibility for the registration of certain types of 
exempt Small Society Lotteries. 

 
4.5 The Licensing Authority cannot become involved in the moral issues of gambling 

and must aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as they think it 
is:-  

 
a) in accordance with any relevant codes of practice; 
b) in accordance with any relevant Guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission; 
c) reasonably consistent with the Licensing Objectives, subject to the two bullet 
points above, and 
d) subject to the three bullet points above, in accordance with the Licensing 
Authority’s Statement of Licensing Policy. 

16



 
 

5 

 
Before the Licensing Authority can determine an application for a Premises 
Licence, an Operating and Personal Licence, or both, must have been obtained 
from the Gambling Commission. 

 
5.0 STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 
 
5.1 The Licensing Authority is required by the Act to publish a Statement of 

Licensing Policy which contains the principles it proposes to apply when 
exercising its functions under the Act. 

 
5.2 This Policy must be published every three years. The Policy must also be 

reviewed from ’time to time’ and any proposed amendments and/or additions 
must be subject to fresh consultation. The ‘new’ Policy must then be published. 

 
5.3 This Policy takes effect on [DATE], and replaces the policy previously in force. 
 
6.0 CONSULTATION 
 
6.1 In producing this Policy, the Licensing Authority consulted widely before 

finalising and publishing it. In addition to the statutory consultees (listed below), 
the Council chose to consult with additional local groups and individuals.  A list 
of these other groups and persons consulted is provided at Appendix G 

 
6.2 The Act requires that the following parties are consulted by the Licensing 

Authority:- 
  

 The chief officer of police for the Authority’s area; 
 
 One or more persons who appear to the Authority to represent the 

interests of persons carrying on gambling businesses in the Authority’s 
area; and 

 
  One or more persons who appear to the Authority to represent the 

interests of persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the 
Authority’s functions under the Act. 
 

6.3 The other groups and people consulted were:- 
 

 Organisations, working with or representing those affected by gambling; 
 
 Other elements of local government; 

17



 
 

6 

 
 Businesses who are, or will be, holders of Premises Licences; 

 
 Responsible Authorities under the Act. 

  
6.4 Consultation took place between [DATE]and [DATE]. 
 
6.5 A full list of comments made and details of the Council’s consideration of those 

comments is available by request to Environmental Health Services or via the 
Licensing Authority’s website at www.Harlow.gov.uk 

 
7.0 APPROVAL OF POLICY 
 
7.1 This Policy was approved at a meeting of the full Council on [Date to be 

confirmed] and was published via its website on [Date to be confirmed]. 
Copies are available on request. 

 
7.2 It should be noted that this Policy does not override the right of any person to 

make an application, to make representations about an application, or to apply 
for a review of a licence, as each case will be considered on its own merit and 
according to the requirements of the Act. 

 
8.0 DECLARATION 
 
8.1 The Licensing Authority declares that it has had regard to the Licensing 

Objectives, formal Guidance issued to Licensing Authorities and any responses 
from those consulted during the consultation process, and will adopt the 
Principles of Better Regulation. 

 
8.2 The Council recognises its responsibilities under equality legislation and will 

monitor the impact of these statutory duties through its various corporate 
schemes such as the Race Equality Scheme and the Disability Equality 
Scheme. 

 
8.2 Appendices have been attached to this statement providing further information 

and guidance that is intended only to assist readers and should not be 
interpreted as legal advice or as constituent of the Council’s policy.   Readers 
of this document are strongly advised to seek their own legal advice if they are 
unsure of the requirements of the Gambling Act 2005, or the guidance or 
regulations issued under the Act. 

 
9.0 RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITIES 
 
9.1 A full list of the Responsible Authorities designated under the Act and their 

contact details are given in Appendix B.  It should be noted that under the Act, 
the Licensing Authority itself is designated as a Responsible Authority. 
 

18



 
 

7 

9.2 The Licensing Authority is required to designate, in writing, a body that is 
competent to advise it about the protection of children from harm.  In making 
this designation the following principles have been applied:- 
 
 the competency of the body to advise the Licensing Authority; 

 
 the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole 

of the Licensing Authority’s area; and 
 

 the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected 
persons rather than any particular invested interest group etc. 

 
9.3 In accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Local Authorities, 

this Authority designates the Essex County Council Children’s Safeguarding 
Service, for this purpose. 

 
10.0 INTERESTED PARTIES 
 
10.1 Interested Parties can make representations about licensing applications or 

apply for a review of an existing licence.  An Interested Party is defined in the 
Act as follows:- 
 
’… a person is an interested party in relation to a premises licence or in relation 
to an application for or in respect of a premises if, in the opinion of the 
Licensing Authority which issues the licence or to which the application is 
made, the person:- 
 

a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by 
the authorised activities,  

 
b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised 

activities, or 
 

c) represents persons who satisfy paragraphs (a) or (b).’ 
 

10.2 Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected, such as 
Councillors and Members of Parliament.   

 
Interested parties can also be trade associations, trade unions, residents’ 
associations and tenants’ associations.  Providing that these people represent 
those living or having business interests in the area which might be affected, no 
specific evidence of authorisation in requires. 
 
Otherwise, the licensing authority will generally require a third party to produce 
some form of authorisation to speak on behalf of the interested party. 

 
10.3 Whether a person is an interested party will be determined on a case by case 

basis.  The types of organisations which may be considered to have business 
interests will be given a wide interpretation. 

19



 
 

8 

 
10.4 In determining if a person lives or has business interests sufficiently close to 

the premises that they are likely to be affected by the authorised activities, the 
Licensing Authority will consider the following factors:- 

 
 
 The size of the premises; 
 
 The nature of the premises; 
 
 The distance of the premises from the location of the person making the 

representation; 
 
 The potential impact of the premises (e.g. number of customers, routes 

likely to be taken by those visiting the establishment); 
 
 The circumstances of the complainant. This does not mean the personal 

characteristics of the complainant but the interests of the complainant, 
which may be relevant to the distance from the premises. For example, it 
could be reasonable for the Council to conclude that “sufficiently close to 
be likely to be affected” could have a different meaning for (a) a private 
resident (b) a residential school for children with truanting problems and 
(c) residential hostels for vulnerable adults; 

 
 The catchment area of the premises (i.e. how far people travel to visit); 

and 
 
 whether the person making the representation has business interests in 

that catchment area that might be affected. 
 
10.5 The Licensing Authority will decide if a representation made in respect of an 

application is valid based on the following factors: 
• It is not frivolous or vexatious; 
• It raises issues that relate to Guidance issued by the Gambling 

Commission; 
• It raises issues that relate to this policy; 
• It relates to the Licensing Objectives. 

 
11.0 EXCHANGE OF INFORMATION 
 
11.1 In its exchange of information with parties listed in Schedule 6 of the Act, the 

Licensing Authority will have regard to:- 
 

• the provisions of the Act, which include the provision that the Data 
Protection Act 1998 will not be contravened; 

• the guidance issued by the Gambling Commission; 
• other relevant Legislation and Regulations 

 
11.2 In accordance with Section 350 of the Gambling Act 2005, the Licensing 

Authority may exchange information with the following statutory bodies or 
individuals: 

20



 
 

9 

 A constable or police force; 
  An enforcement officer; 
  A licensing authority; 

 Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs; 
 The Gambling Appeal Tribunal; 
 The Secretary of State; 
 Scottish Ministers; and 
 Any other person or body designated by the Secretary of State in 

accordance with the Act. 
 
11.3 The Licensing Authority may also exchange information provided by applicants 

with law enforcement agencies for purposes connected with the prevention and 
detection of crime, but we will only share any personal details for this purpose 
unless required to do so by law. 

 
12.0 PUBLIC REGISTER 
 
12.1  The Licensing Authority is required to keep a public register and share 

information in it with the Gambling Commission and others.  Regulations 
prescribe what information should be kept in the register.  Copies of the 
register may be obtained on payment of a fee. 

 
13.0 COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT 
 
13.1 In exercising its functions with regard to the inspection of premises and to 

instituting criminal proceedings in respect of offences specified, the Licensing 
Authority will follow best.  This requires that actions should be practice as 
promulgated by the Better Regulation Executive and the Hampton/McCrory 
Reviews of regulatory inspections and enforcement and endeavour to be:- 

 
  Proportionate –  Intervention will only be when necessary.  Remedies 

should be appropriate to the risk posed and costs identified and 
minimised. 

 
 Accountable –  The Authorities must be able to justify decisions and be 

subject to public scrutiny. 
 

 Consistent  –  Rules and standards must be joined up and implemented 
fairly. 

 
 Transparent  –  Enforcement should be open and regulations kept 

simple and user friendly. 
 

 Targeted  –  Enforcement should be focused on the problems and 
minimise side effects. 

 
13.2 The Licensing Authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other 

regulatory regimes, so far as is possible, and adopt a risk based inspection 

21



 
 

10 

programme. All enforcement action is taken having regard to the relevant 
Council Enforcement Policy. 
 

13.3 The main enforcement and compliance role of the Licensing Authority in terms 
of the Act is to ensure compliance with the Premises Licence and other 
permissions which it authorises.  The Gambling Commission is the 
enforcement body for Operating and Personal Licences.  Concerns about the 
manufacturer, supply or repair of gaming machines will not be dealt with by the 
Licensing Authority but will be notified to the Gambling Commission. 

 
13.4 The Licensing Authority will keep itself informed of developments as regards 

the work of the Better Regulation Executive in its consideration of the 
regulatory functions of Local Authorities, and will have regard to best practice. 

 
13.5 Where appropriate complaints will be investigated in accordance with the 

progressive approach outlined in the Council’s Enforcement Policy.  A copy of 
this document is available on the Council’s website. In the first instance the 
Council encourages raising of complaints directly with the licensee or business 
concerned. 

 
14.0 DELEGATION OF POWERS 
 
14.1 The Licensing Authority has agreed a scheme of delegation for discharging its 

functions under the Act and this can be found in Appendix F 
  

 
PART B 

PREMISES LICENCES 
 
 

15.0 GENERAL PRINCIPLES 
 
15.1 Premises Licences are subject to the permissions/restrictions set out in the Act 

as well as the specific mandatory and default conditions detailed in Regulations 
issued by the Secretary of State.  The Licensing Authority is able to exclude 
default conditions and also attach others, where it is thought appropriate. 

 
15.2 In accordance with section 150 of the Act, premises licences can authorise the 

provision of facilities on: 
 Casino premises; 
 Bingo premises; 
 Betting premises, including tracts and premises used by betting 

intermediaries; 
 Adult gaming centre premises (for category B3, B4, C and D machines); 
 Family entertainment centre premises (for category C and D machines) 

(note that, separate to this category, the licensing authority may issue a 
family entertainment centre gaming machine permit, which authorises 
the use of category D machines only). 

 

22



 
 

11 

15.3 Each case will be decided on its merits, and will depend upon the type of 
gambling that is proposed, as well as taking into account how the applicant proposes 
that the Licensing Objectives concerns can be overcome. 
 
15.4 The Licensing Authority is required by the Act, in making decisions about 

Premises Licences, so far as it thinks fit to permit the use of premises for 
gambling that is:- 

 
 in accordance with any relevant Codes of Practice (LCCP) issued under 

section 24 of the Act; 
 
 in accordance with any relevant Guidance issued by the Gambling 

Commission under Section 25; 
 
 reasonably consistent with the Licensing Objectives (subject to the two 

bullet points above); and 
 
 in accordance with the Licensing Authority’s Statement of Licensing 

Policy (subject to the three bullet points above). 
 
15.5 Definition of Premises: 

 
In the Act ‘premises’ is defined as including ‘any place’.  It is for the Licensing 
Authority (having due regard to the Gambling Commission Guidance) to 
determine on the merits of each application whether different parts of a building 
can be properly regarded as being separate premises. 

 
The Licensing Authority will pay particular attention to applications where 
access to the licensed premises is through other premises (which themselves 
may be licensed or unlicensed). 
 
The authority takes particular note of the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance with regard to applications for multiple licences for a building, 
or those for a specific part of the building to be licensed.  The Guidance 
directs the Authority that premises should be configured so that children 
“are not invited to participate in, have accidental access to, or closely 
observe gambling where they are prohibited from participating”; that 
“Entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more 
premises licences should be separate and identifiable so that the 
separation of different premises is not compromised and people do not 
‘drift’ into a gambling area”; and that “Customers should be able to 
participate in the activity named on the premises licence”. 
 
Where considering applications where access to the licensed premises is 
through other premises (which themselves may be licensed or 
unlicensed), the Authority will consider, as per the Guidance, whether 
taken as a whole, the co-location of the licensed premises with other 
facilities may have the effect of creating an arrangement that otherwise 
would, or should, be prohibited under the Act. 
 

15.6 Demand: 

23



 
 

12 

 
The authority is aware that demand issues (e.g. the likely demand or need for 
gambling facilities in an area) cannot be considered with regard to the location 
of premises but that considerations in terms of the licensing objectives can.  
The authority will pay particular attention to the protection of children and 
vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, as well as 
issues of crime and disorder. 
 
 
 

15.7 Location: 
 
Location will only be material consideration in the context of the Licensing 
Objectives. 
 
With regard to these objectives, it is the authority’s policy, upon receipt 
of any relevant representations to look at specific location issues 
including: 

 The possible impact a gambling premises may have on any 
premises that provide services to children or young people, i.e. 
school, or vulnerable adult centres in the area; 

 The possible impact a gambling premises may have on residential 
areas where there may be a high concentration of families with 
children; 

 The size of the premises and the nature of the activities taking 
place; 

 Any levels of organised crime in the area. 
 
In order for location to be considered, the authority will need to be 
satisfied that there is sufficient evidence that the particular location of the 
premises would be harmful to the licensing objectives.  From 6 April 
2016, it is a requirement of the Gambling Commission’s Licence 
Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP), under section 10, for licensees 
to assess the local risk to the licensing objectives posed by the provision 
of gambling facilities at their premises and have policies, procedures and 
control measures to mitigate those risks.  In making risk assessments, 
licensees must take into account relevant matters identified in this policy. 
 
The LCCP goes on to say licensees must review (and update as 
necessary) their local risk assessments: 

 To take account of significant changes in local circumstances, 
including those identified in this policy; 

 When there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that 
may affect their mitigation of local risks; 

 When applying for a variation of a premises licence; and 
 In any case, undertake a local risk assessment when applying for a 

new premises licence. 
 

The authority will expect the local risk assessment to consider as a 
minimum: 

24



 
 

13 

 Whether the premises is in an area of deprivation; 
 Whether the premises is in an area subject to high levels of crime 

and/or disorder; 
 The ethnic profile of residents in the area; 
 The demographics of the area in relation to vulnerable groups; 
 The location of services for children such as schools, playgrounds, 

top shops, leisure centres and other areas where children will 
gather. 

 
In any case the local risk assessment should show how vulnerable 
people, including people with gambling dependencies, are protected. 
 
Other matters that the assessment may include: 

 The training of staff in brief intervention when customers show 
signs of excessive gambling, the ability to staff to offer brief 
intervention and how the manning of premises affect this; 

 Details as to the location and coverage of working CCTV cameras, 
and how the system will be monitored; 

 The layout of the premises so that staff have an unobstructed view 
of people using the premises; 

 The number of staff that will be available on the premises at any 
one time.  If at any time that number is one, confirm the 
supervisory and monitoring arrangements when that person is 
absent from the licensed area or distracted from supervising the 
premises and observing those persons using the premises. 

 Arrangements for monitoring and dealing with under age persons 
and vulnerable persons, which may include dedicated and trained 
personnel, leaflets, posters, self-exclusion schemes, window 
displays and advertisements not to entice passers-by etc. 

 The provision of signage and documents relating to games rules, 
gambling care providers and other relevant information be 
provided in both English and the other prominent first language for 
that locality; 

 Where the application is for a betting premises licence, other than 
in respect of a track, the location and extent of any part of the 
premises which will be used to provide facilities for gambling in 
reliance on the licence. 

 
Such information may be used to inform the decision the authority makes 
about whether to grant the licence, to grant the licence with special 
conditions or to refuse the application. 
 
This policy does not preclude any application being made and each 
application will be decided on its merits, with the onus being upon the 
applicant to show how the concerns can be overcome. 
 

15.8 Local Area Profile 
 

25



 
 

14 

Each locality has its own character and challenges.  In order to asses 
applicants, where there is an issue in a local area which impacts on how 
the applicant should complete their risk assessment, the authority may 
publish a local area profile. This profile, compiled in conjunction with ?? 
can be obtained from the Council’s website. 
 
The local area profiles should be given careful consideration when 
making an application.  Applicants may be asked to attend a meeting with 
licensing officers to discuss the profiles, appropriate measures to 
mitigate risk in the area and how they might be relevant to their 
application.  The local area profiles will be presented to any subsequent 
licensing sub-committee when they determine an application that has 
received representations. 
 
The authority recognises that it cannot insist on applicants using the 
local area profiles when completing their risk assessments, however an 
applicant who decides to disregard the profiles may face additional 
representations and the expense of a hearing as a result. 

 
15.9 Duplication with other Regulatory Regimes: 

 
 Duplication with other statutory/regulatory regimes will be avoided where 

possible. This Authority will not consider whether a licence application is likely 
to be granted Planning Permission or Building Control consent. 

 
 The Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities states: 
 
 ‘7.58 In determining applications, the licensing authority should not take 

into consideration matters that are not related to gambling and the 
licensing objectives.  One example would be the likelihood of the 
applicant obtaining planning permission or building regulations approval 
for their proposal…’ 

 
 ‘7.65 When dealing with a premises licence application for finished 

buildings, the licensing authority should not take into account whether 
those buildings have to comply with the necessary planning or building 
consents.  Nor should fire or health and safety risks be taken into 
account.  Those matters should be dealt with under relevant planning 
control, building and other regulations, and must not form part of the 
consideration for the premises licence.  S201 of the Act prevents 
licensing authorities taking into account the likelihood of the proposal by 
the applicant obtaining planning or building consent when considering a 
premises licence application.  Equally, the grant of a gambling premises 
licence does not prejudice or prevent any action that may be appropriate 
under the law relating to planning or building.’ 

 
 This licensing authority places due regard on these extracts from the 

Guidance (September 2015 version).  The Licensing Authority is aware 
that in May 2015 the Government introduced additional planning controls 
in relation to betting offices, removing them from Class D2 use to a ‘sui 

26



 
 

15 

generis’ use.  This means that Betting Shops have been taken out of the 
planning ‘use’ classes and will need to receive planning approval.  This 
has enabled Planning Authorities to exercise stricter controls over these 
uses, and this Authority would expect applicants for new Gambling 
Premises Licences to have been granted permission to use prospective 
premises for the proposed operation subject of the licence application. 

 
15.10 Licensing Objectives:   

 
 Premises Licences granted must be reasonably consistent with the Licensing 

Objectives.  With regard to these objectives, the following will be considered:- 
 
  Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, 

being associated with crime or disorder, or being used to support 
crime  –  The Licensing Authority is aware that there is a distinction 
between disorder and nuisance and that the prevention of nuisance is 
not a Licensing Objective under the Act. 

 
Whilst the Licensing Authority is aware that the Gambling Commission 
takes a leading role in preventing gambling from being a source of 
crime, it will pay attention to the proposed location of gambling premises 
in terms of this Licensing Objective. 

 
  Where an area has known high levels of organised crime, the Licensing 

Authority will consider carefully whether gambling premises are suitable 
to be located there and the need for conditions, such as the provision of 
Door Supervisors. 

 
  Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way  – 
  The Gambling Commission does not generally expect Licensing 

Authorities to be concerned with ensuring that gambling is conducted in 
a fair and open way. 

 
  Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being 

harmed or exploited by gambling – 
  In practice, the Objective of protecting children from being harmed or 

exploited by gambling often means preventing them from taking part in, 
or being in close proximity to, gambling. 

 
  There is no definition of the term ‘vulnerable person’ in the Act, but this 

could include people who are gambling beyond their means and people 
who may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about 
gambling due to a mental impairment, or substance misuse of alcohol or 
drugs. 

 
The licensing authority will consider very carefully whether applications 
for Premises Licences in respect of gambling premises located close to 
schools, centres for gambling addicts, or residential areas where there 
may be a high concentration of families with children , should be 
granted. 

27



 
 

16 

 
15.11 Conditions: 
 

The Licensing Authority is aware that the mandatory and default conditions 
imposed by the Gambling Commission will normally be sufficient to regulate 
gambling premises. In exceptional cases where there are specific risks or 
problems associated with a particular locality, specific premises or class of 
premises, the Authority may consider attaching individual conditions related to 
the licensing objectives. 

 
 Any conditions attached to Licences will be proportionate and will be:- 
  relevant to the need to make the proposed premises suitable as a 

gambling facility; 
  directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for; 
  fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises; and 
  reasonable in all other respects. 
 
 In addition, the Licensing Authority will examine how applicants propose to 

address the licensing objectives.  In considering applications the Licensing 
Authority will particularly take into account the following, if deemed appropriate: 
• Proof of age schemes 
• Closed Circuit Television 
• Door Supervisors 
• Supervision of entrances/machine areas; 
• Physical separation of areas; 
• Location of entrances; 
• Notices and signage; 

 
• The training of staff to deal with suspect truants and vulnerable persons; 

 
• Specific opening hours; and  

 
• With particular regard to vulnerable persons, measures such as the use 

of self- barring schemes, provision of information, leaflets, helpline 
numbers for organisations such as GamCare. 

 
 This list is not exhaustive but indicative of examples. 

 
  
 
15.12 It is recognised that there are conditions which the Licensing Authority cannot 

attach to Premises Licences.  These are:- 
  any conditions on the Premises Licence which make it impossible to 

comply with an Operating Licence condition; 
  conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method 

of operation; 
  conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required 

(the Act specifically removes the membership requirement for casino 
and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it being reinstated); 

28



 
 

17 

  conditions in relation to stakes, fees, and the winning of prizes. 
 

 
15.13 Credit: 
 

Credit facilities are prohibited from being provided in casinos and bingo 
licensed premises.  Cash machines (ATM’s) may be installed in such premises 
but the licensing authority may apply conditions as to where they are sited. 

 
15.13 Betting Machines [See Appendix ? for definition]:  

 
 In relation to Casinos, Betting Premises and Tracks, the Licensing Authority 

can restrict the number of betting machines, their nature and the circumstances 
in which they are made available by attaching a licence condition to a Betting 
Premises Licence or to a Casino Premises Licence (where betting is permitted 
in the Casino). 

 
15.14 When considering whether to impose a condition to restrict the number of 

betting machines in particular premises, the Licensing Authority, among other 
things, shall take into account:- 

• the size of the premises; 
 the number of counter positions available for person to person 

transactions; and 
 the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and 

young persons or by vulnerable persons.   
 

15.15 In deciding whether to impose conditions to limit the number of betting 
machines, each application will be considered on its own merit and account will 
be taken of Codes of Practice or Guidance issued under the Act. 

 
16.0 PROVISIONAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
16.1 An application for a provisional statement may be made in respect of 

premises which the applicant: 
 expects to be constructed; 
 expects to be altered; 
 expects to acquire a right to occupy. 

 
16.2 The applicant should refer to the Act and the detailed information provided in 

the Guidance. 
 
17.0 REVIEWS 
 
17.1 Application for a Review of a Premises Licence may be made by Responsible 

Authorities and Interested Parties. 
 
17.2 The Licensing Authority can make a representation or apply for a review of the 

Premises Licence on the basis of any reason that it thinks is appropriate.  For 

29



 
 

18 

the purpose of exercising its discretion in these matters, the Authority has 
designated the Council’s Environment and Licensing Manager as being the 
proper persons to act on its behalf. 

 
17.3 It is for the Licensing Authority to decide whether the review is to be carried 
out.  This decision will generally be on the basis of whether the request for the review 
is relevant to the matters listed below: 

• Whether the grounds for the request raises issues relevant to the principles to 
be applied by the Licensing Authority and set out within the Licensing Authority 
Statement of Policy; 

• whether the grounds for the request are frivolous or vexatious 
• whether the grounds for the request would certainly not cause the Authority to 

alter/revoke/suspend the premises licence; 
• whether the grounds for the request are substantially the same as previous 

representations or requests for a review; 
• In accordance with any relevant codes of practice issued by the Gambling 

Commission; 
• In accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 

Commission; 
• Reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives. 

 
17.4 There is no appeal, other than by way of Judicial Review, against the 

Authority’s determination of the relevance of an application for review. 
 
18.0 ADULT GAMING CENTRES  
 
18.1 An Adult Gaming Centre is defined in Appendix A.  Entry to these premises is 

age restricted. 
 
18.2 The Licensing Authority will take account of any conditions applied to an 

Operating Licence in respect of such premises. 
 

19.0 LICENSED FAMILY ENTERTAINMENT CENTRES 
 
19.1 A licensed Family Entertainment Centre is defined in Appendix A  Entry to 

these premises is not generally age restricted although entry to certain areas 
may be restricted, dependent on the category of machines available for use. 

 
19.2 The Licensing Authority will take account of any conditions applied to an 

Operating Licence in respect of such premises. 
 
20.0 CASINOS 
 
20.1 A casino is defined in Appendix A.  Entry to these premises is age restricted. 
 
20.2 The Licensing Authority is empowered to pass a resolution not to issue new 
licences for casinos in it area. This authority has adopted a policy that: 
 

 Each application for a Casino will be considered on its own merit. 

30



 
 

19 

 
20.3 In making this decision the Licensing Authority consulted widely on this specific  
 issue. 
 
20.4 Casinos and Competitive Bidding 
 

The Licensing Authority is aware that where a Licensing Authority’s area 
is enabled to grant a premises licence for a new style casino, there are 
likely to be a number of operators that will want to run a casino.  In such 
situations the council will run a competition in line with regulations and 
codes of practice issued under the Act by the Secretary of State.  It 
should be noted that at the time this Statement of Licensing Policy was 
adopted this area had not been so enabled. 

 
20.5 The Licensing Authority will take account of any conditions applied to an 
Operating Licence in respect of such premises. 

 
 
20.6 Betting Machines: 
 
Conditions may be imposed in accordance with paragraphs 15.13, 15.14 and 15.15 
above. 
 
  
 
20.7 In deciding whether to impose conditions to limit the number of betting 

machines, each application will be considered on its own merits and account 
will be taken of Codes of Practice or Guidance issued under the Act. 

 
20.8 Credit: 
 
 Credit facilities are prohibited in casinos; however, this does not prevent the 

installation of cash dispensers (ATMs) on the premises, although the Licensing 
Authority may attach conditions as to the siting of such machines. 

 
21.0 BINGO PREMISES 
 
21.1 Bingo is defined in Appendix ?  Entry to these premises is not generally age 

restricted although entry to certain areas may be restricted, dependent on the 
category of machines available for use. 

 
21.2 The Licensing Authority will take account of any conditions applied to an 

Operating Licence in respect of such premises. 
 
21.3 Credit: 
 
 Credit facilities are prohibited in premises licensed for Bingo, however, this 

does not prevent the installation of cash dispensers (ATMs) on the premises, 

31



 
 

20 

although the Licensing Authority may attach conditions as to the siting of such 
machines. 

 
22.0 BETTING PREMISES  
 
22.1 Betting is defined in Appendix A.  Entry to these premises is age restricted. 
 
22.2 The Licensing Authority will take account of any conditions applied to an 

Operating Licence in respect of such premises. 
 
23.0 BETTING MACHINES 
 
Conditions may be imposed in accordance with paragraphs 15.13, 15.14 and 15.15 
above. 
 
23.1 In deciding whether to impose conditions to limit the number of betting 

machines, each application will be on its own merits and account will be taken 
of Codes of Practice or Guidance issued under the Act. 

 
24.0 TRACKS 
 
24.1 A track is defined in Appendix A Entry to these premises may be age 

restricted.  Please refer to the Gambling Commission Guidance 
 
24.2 The Licensing Authority will take account of any conditions applied to an 

Operating Licence in respect of such premises. 
 
24.3 BETTING MACHINES 
 
24.4 Conditions may be imposed, in accordance with paragraphs 15.13, 15.14 and 

15.15 above. In deciding whether to impose conditions to limit the number of 
betting machines, each application will be on its own merits and account will be 
taken of Codes of Practice or Guidance issued under the Act. 

 
25.0 TRAVELLING FAIRS 
 
25.1 Travelling fairs have traditionally been able to provide various types of low 

stake gambling without the need for a licence or permit provided that certain 
conditions are met and this provision continues in similar fashion under the Act. 

 
25.2 Travelling fairs have the right to provide an unlimited number of category D 

gaming machines and/or equal chance prize gaming (without the need for a 
permit) as long as the gambling amounts to no more than ancillary amusement 
at the fair. 

 
25.3 The Licensing Authority will consider whether any fairs which take up the above 

entitlement  fall within the statutory definition of a travelling fair. 
 

32



 
 

21 

25.4 It will fall to this Licensing Authority to determine whether, where category D 
machines and/or equal chance prize gaming without a permit is to be made 
available for use at travelling fairs, the statutory requirement that the facilities 
for gambling amount to no more than an ancillary amusement at a travelling fair 
is met. Current stakes and prizes can be found at Appendix C 

 
25.5 Fairs cannot be held on a piece of land for more than 27 days per calendar 

year, regardless of  whether it is the same or different travelling fair occupying 
the land.  The Licensing Authority will work with its neighbouring authorities to 
ensure that land which crosses the administrative boundaries is monitored so 
that statutory limits are not exceeded. 

 
 
 
 

PART C 
PERMITS/TEMPORARY OR OCCASIONAL USE 

NOTICES/REGISTRATIONS 
 

 
26.0 GENERAL 
 
26.1 The Act introduced a range of permits for gambling which are granted by 

Licensing Authorities.  Permits are required when premises provide a gambling 
facility but either the stakes and prizes are very low or gambling is not the main 
function of the premises.  The permits regulate gambling and the use of gaming 
machines in a specific premises.  With the exception of limiting machine 
numbers on Licensed Premises Gaming Machine permits, the Licensing 
Authority any only grant or reject an application for a permit.  No conditions 
may be attached. 

  
27.0 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permits 
 
27.1 Where a premises does not hold a Premises Licence but wishes to provide 
 Gaming machines, it can apply to the Licensing Authority for a Permit.  It 
 should be noted that the applicant must show that the premises will be wholly 
 or mainly used for making gaming machines available for use. 
 

27.2 The Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to show that there are 
written policies and procedures in place to protect children from harm.  Harm in 
this context is not limited to harm from gambling but includes wider child 
protection considerations.  The suitability of such policies and procedures will 
be considered on their merits, however, they may include:- 

 A Disclosure and Barring check for the applicant and the person having 
the day to day control of the premises; 

 Proof of age schemes; 
 How the applicant proposes to ensure that children will be protected 

from harm whilst on the premises; 

33



 
 

22 

 Training covering how staff would deal with:- 
o unsupervised, very young children being on the premises, or 
o children causing perceived problems on/around the premises. 
o suspect truant children. 

 
In addition, applicants should be able to demonstrate a full understanding of the 
maximum stakes and prizes (and that staff are suitably trained in this respect). 

 
28.0 (ALCOHOL) LICENSED PREMISES GAMING MACHINE PERMITS 
 
28.1 There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for 

consumption on the premises to automatically have two gaming machines, of 
Categories C and/or D via notification to the Licensing Authority.  

28.2 Gaming machines can only be located on licensed premises that have a bar for 
serving customers. 

 
28.3 Premises restricted to selling alcohol only with food, will not be able to to have 

gaming machines or apply for a Permit. 
 
28.4 Where an application for more than two gaming machines is received, the 

Licensing Authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children 
and vulnerable persons from harm, or being exploited by gambling and will 
expect the applicant to satisfy the Authority that there will be sufficient 
measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult 
only machines.  Measures will cover such issues as:-  

 Adult machines being in sight of the bar; 
 Adult machines being in sight of staff who will monitor that the machines 

are not being used by those under 18; 
 Appropriate notices and signage; and 
 As regards the protection of vulnerable persons, the Licensing Authority 

will consider measures such as the use of self-barring schemes, 
provision of information, leaflets and/or help line numbers for 
organisations such as GamCare. 

 Relevant Codes of Practice issued by the Gambling Commission. 
 

The Licensing Authority can decide to grant an application with a smaller number of 
machines and/or a different category of machines than that applied for but 
conditions other than these cannot be attached. 

 
29.0 PRIZE GAMING PERMITS [See Appendix A for definition] 

 
 

29.1 The Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to show that there are written 
policies and procedures in place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this 
context is not limited to harm from gambling but includes wider child protection 
considerations.  The suitability of such policies and procedures will be 
considered on their merits, however, they may include:- 

 A basic Disclosure and Barring check for the applicant and the person 
having the day to day control of the premises; Proof of age schemes; 

34



 
 

23 

 How the applicant proposes to ensure that children will be protected 
from harm whilst on the premises; 

 Training covering how staff would deal with:- 
o unsupervised, very young children being on the premises; 
o  children causing perceived problems on/around the premises; 
o Suspected truant children. 

 
In addition applicants should be able to demonstrate a full understanding of maximum 
stakes and prizes (and that staff are suitably trained in this respect). 
 
In making its decision on an application for a Permit, the Licensing Authority does not 
need to have regard to the Licensing Objectives but must have regard to any 
Gambling Commission guidance. 
 
30.0 CLUB GAMING AND CLUB MACHINE PERMITS 
 
30.1 Members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes may apply for a Club Gaming 

Permit and/or a Club Gaming Machine Permit, but are restricted by category 
and number of machines and to equal chance gaming and games of chance. 

 
30.2 Commercial clubs may apply for a club machine permit, subject to restrictions. 
 
30.3 The gambling provided under the authority of a club gaming permit must also 

meet the following conditions: 
 

(a) in respect of gaming machines: 
 

• No child or young person may use a category B or C machine on the 
premises; 

• That the holder must comply with any relevant provision of a code of 
practice about the location and operation of gaming machines. 
 

(b) The public, children and young persons must be excluded from any area 
of the premises where the gaming is taking place. 

 
30.4 Section 273 of the Act sets out the conditions that will apply to the club 

machine permit, including that in respect of gaming machines no child or young 
person uses a category B or C machine on the premises and that the holder 
complies with any relevant provision of a code of practice about the location 
and operation of gaming machines. 
 

PART D 
OCCASIONAL AND TEMPORARY PERMISSIONS 

 
 
31.0 TEMPORARY USE NOTICES (TUN) 
 
31.1 A ‘TUN’ is defined in Appendix A  
 

35



 
 

24 

31.2 A TUN may only be granted to a person or company holding an operating 
licence relevant to the temporary use of the premises.  Regulations issued by 
the Secretary of State prescribe the activities to be covered.  At present a 
Temporary Use Notice can only be issued for equal chance gaming. 

 
31.3 For the purpose of a TUN, a set of premises is the subject of a TUN if any part 

of the premises is the subject of the Notice.  This prevents one large premises 
from having a TUN in effect for more than 21 days per year by giving a Notice 
in respect of different parts. 

 
31.4 The definition of “a set of premises” will be a question of fact in the particular 

circumstances of each Notice that is given.  In considering whether a place falls 
within the definition of “a set of premises” the Licensing Authority will consider, 
amongst other things, the ownership/occupation and control of the premises. 

 
31.5 The Licensing Authority will object to Notices where it appears that there effect 

would be to permit regular gambling in a place that could be described as one 
set of premises. 

 
32.0 OCCASIONAL USE NOTICES (OUN) 
 
32.1 Occasion Use Notices are defined in Appendix A. Occasional Use Notices, 

apply only to tracks, which are described as being premises on any part of 
which a race or other sporting events take place, or is intended to take place.  
Tracks need not be a permanent fixture. 

 
32.2 OUN’s are intended to permit licensed betting operators who have the 
appropriate permission of the Gambling Commission to use tracks for short 
periods for conducting betting.  The OUN dispenses with the need for a Betting 
Premises Licence for the track. 

 
32.3 The Licensing Authority has very little discretion as regards these Notices, 

aside from ensuring that a statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not 
exceeded. 

 
32.4 The Licensing Authority will, however, consider the definition of a track and 

whether the applicant is permitted to avail him/herself of the Notice. 
 
 
33.0 SMALL SOCIETY LOTTERIES 
 
33.1 The definition of a Small Society Lottery is contained in Appendix A and these 

require registration with the Licensing Authority.  
 
34.0 APPENDICIES 
 
34.1 Appendices have been attached to this Statement providing further 

information and guidance and they are intended only to assist readers 
and should not be interpreted as legal advice or as constituent of the 

36



 
 

25 

Licensing Authority’s policy. Readers of this document are strongly 
advised to seek their own legal advice if they are unsure of the 
requirements of the Act, or the guidance or regulations issued under 
the Act. 

 
A DEFINITIONS 
 
B CONTACT DETAILS OF RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITIES 
 
C APPLICATION PROCESS 
 
D DESCRIPTION OF THE DISTRICT 
 
E ADVICE FOR THOSE WHO HAVE DIFFICULTY IN UNDERSTANDING 
 ENGLISH 
 
F DELEGATED POWERS 

 
G USEFUL CONTACTS 
 

37



DRAFT V1 22/03/2016 
 

DEFINITIONS               Appendix A 

Adult Gaming Centre Premises in respect of which an Adult Gaming Centre 
Premises Licence has effect. 

Authorised Local 
Authority Officer 

A Licensing Authority Officer who is an authorised person 
for a purpose relating to premises in that Authority’s area. 

AWP machines  Amusement with Prizes Machines  

BACTA  British Amusement Catering Trade Association  

Betting Machines  A machine designed or adapted for use to bet on future 
real events (not a Gaming Machine).  

Bingo  A game of equal chance.  

Casino  An arrangement whereby people are given an opportunity 
to participate in one or more casino games.  

Casino Games  Games of chance that are not equal chance gaming.  

Casino Premises 
Licence Categories  

a) Regional Casino Premises Licence  

b) Large Casino Premises Licence  

c) Small Casino Premises Licence  

d) Casinos permitted under transitional arrangements  

Child  Individual who is less than 16 years old.  

38



 
 

1 

Club Gaming Machine 
Permit  

Permit to enable the premises to provide gaming machines 
(3 machines of Categories B, C or D)  

Club Gaming Permit  Permit to enable the premises to provide gaming machines 
(3 machines of Categories B C or D), equal chance 
gaming and games of chance.  

Conditions Conditions to be attached to licences by way of:- 

• Automatic provision 

• Regulations provided by Secretary of State 

• Conditions provided by Gambling Commission 

• Conditions provided by Licensing Authority 

Conditions may be general in nature (either attached to all 
licences or all licences of a particular nature) or may be 
specific to a particular licence. 

Customer Lotteries  Lotteries run by the occupiers of business premises who 
sell tickets only to customers present on their premises. 
These lotteries may not be conducted on vessels.  

Default Conditions  Conditions that will apply unless the Licensing Authority 
decides to exclude them. This may apply to all Premises 
Licences, to a class of Premises Licence or Licences for 
specified circumstances.  

Delegated Powers Decisions delegated either to a Licensing Committee, Sub-
Committee or Licensing Officers. 

Disorder  No set interpretation, however, likely to be connected to 
the way gambling is being conducted. In the case of 
gambling premises licences, disorder is intended to mean 
activity that is more serious and disruptive than mere 

39



 
 

2 

nuisance.  

Equal Chance Gaming  Games that do not involve playing or staking against a 
bank and where the chances are equally favourable to all 
participants  

Exempt Lotteries  Lotteries specified in the Gambling Act as permitted to be 
run without a licence from the Gambling Commission. 
There are 4 types:  

• Small Society Lottery (required to register with 
Licensing Authorities.  

• Incidental Non Commercial Lotteries  
• Private Lotteries  
• Customer Lotteries  

Exchange of 
Information 

Exchanging of information with other regulatory bodies 
under the Gambling Act. 

External Lottery 
Manager 

An individual, firm or company appointed by the Small 
Lottery Society to manage a lottery on their behalf.  They 
are consultants who generally take their fees from the 
expenses of the lottery. 

Gaming  Prize gaming if the nature and size of the prize is not 
determined by the number of people playing or the amount 
paid for or raised by the gaming. The prizes will be 
determined by the operator before the play commences.  

Gaming Machine  Machine covering all types of gambling activity, including 
betting on virtual events.  

Categories  

40



 
 

3 

Max. Stake Max Prize  

A Unlimited  

B1 £5      £10000 * 

B2 £100   £500 

B3 £2      £500  

B3A £2    £500 

B4 £2      £400 

C £1        £100 

D – money prize 10p           £5 

D – non-money prize (other than crane grab machine or a coin 
pusher or penny falls machine)  30p            £8 

D – non-money prize (crane grab machine)  £1       £50  

D – money prize (other than a coin pusher or penny falls 
machine)  10p     £5 

D – combined money and non-money prize (other than a coin 
pusher or penny falls machine)  10p      £8 (of which no more 
than £5 may be a money prize) 

D – combined money and non-money prize (coin pusher or 
penny falls machine)  20P        £20 (of which no more than £10 
may be a money prize). 

*with the option of a maximum £20,000 linked progressive 
jackpot on a premises basis only. 

Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities  

Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 5th  edition 
dated September 2015 

Incidental Non 
Commercial Lottery  

A lottery promoted wholly for purposes other than private 
gain, and which are incidental to non-commercial events 
(commonly charity fund raising events, lottery held at a 
school fete or at a social event such as a dinner dance). 

41



 
 

4 

Interested Party  A person who:  

Lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely affected 
by the authorised activities  

• Has business interests that might be affected by the 
authorised activities  

• Represents persons in either of the above groups  

Large Lottery  

 

Where the total value of tickets in any one lottery exceeds 
£20,000 OR tickets in separate lotteries in one calendar 
year exceeds £250,000. This requires an Operating 
Licence.  

Licensed Lottery  Large society lotteries and lotteries run for the benefit of 
local authorities which will be regulated by the Gambling 
Commission. Operating Licences will be required.  

Live Gaming  Gambling on a live game as it happens.  

Lottery An arrangement which satisfies the statutory description of 
either a simple lottery or a complex lottery in Section 14 of 
the Act. 

Lottery Tickets Tickets that must: 

• Identify the promoting society; 

• State the price of the ticket, which must be the 
same for all tickets; 

• State the name and address of the member of the 
Society who is designated as having responsibility 
for the Society for the promotion of the lottery or, if 

42



 
 

5 

there is one, the External Lottery Manager; and 

• State the date of the draw, or enable the date of the 
draw to be determined. 

Mandatory Conditions  Conditions that must be attached to a licence. This may 
apply to all Premises Licences, to a class of Premises 
Licence or licences for specified circumstances.  

Members Club  A club that must  

• have at least 25 members  
• be established and conducted ‘wholly or mainly’ for 

purposes other than gaming  
• be permanent in nature  
• not established to make commercial profit  
• controlled by its members equally.  

Non-commercial event  An event where all the money raised at the event, 
including entrance fees, goes entirely to purposes that are 
not for private gain.  

Non Commercial 
Society  

 

 

A society established and conducted:  

• for charitable purposes  
• for the purpose of enabling participation in, or of 

supporting, sport athletics or a cultural activity; or  
• for any other non-commercial purpose other than 

that of private gain  

Occasional Use Notice  Betting may be permitted on a ‘track’ without the need for 
a full Premises Licence.  

43



 
 

6 

Operating Licences  Licence to permit individuals and companies to provide 
facilities for certain types of gambling. They may authorise 
remote or non-remote gambling.  

Permits  Authorisation to provide a gambling facility where the 
stakes and prizes are very low or gambling is not the main 
function of the premises.  

Personal Licence  Formal authorisation to individuals who control facilities for 
gambling or are able to influence the outcome of gambling. 
These cannot be held by companies. 

Premises  Defined as ‘any place’. It is for the Licensing Authority to 
decide whether different parts of a building can be properly 
regarded as being separate premises.  

Premises Licence  Licence to authorise the provision of gaming facilities on 
casino premises, bingo premises, betting premises, 
including tracks, adult gaming centres and family 
entertainment centres  

Private Lotteries  3 Types of Private Lotteries:  

• Private Society Lotteries – tickets may only be sold 
to members of the Society or persons who are on 
the premises of the Society  

• Work Lotteries – the promoters and purchasers of 
tickets must all work on a single set of work 
premises  

• Residents’ Lotteries – promoted by, and tickets may 
only be sold to, people who live at the same set of 
premises;  

44



 
 

7 

Prize Gaming  Where the nature and size of the prize is not determined 
by the number of people playing or the amount paid for or 
raised by the gaming. The prizes will be determined by the 
operator before play commences.  

Prize Gaming Permit  A permit to authorise the provision of facilities for gaming 
with prizes on specific premises.  

Provisional Statement  Where an applicant can make an application to the 
Licensing Authority in respect of premises that he:  

• Expects to be constructed  
• Expects to be altered  
• Expects to acquire a right to occupy.  

Relevant 
Representations  

Representations that relate to the Gambling Licensing 
Objectives, or that raise issues under the Licensing Policy 
or the Gambling Commission’s Guidance or Codes of 
Practice.  

Simple Lottery  An arrangement where:  

• Persons are required to pay to participate in the 
arrangement  

• In the course of the arrangement, one or more 
prizes are allocated to one or more members of a 
class; and  

• The prizes are allocated by a process which relies 
wholly on chance.  

Small Lottery  Where the total value of tickets in a single lottery is 
£20,000 or less and the aggregate value of the tickets in a 

45



 
 

8 

calendar year is £250,000 or less.  

Small Society Lottery  A lottery promoted on behalf of a non-commercial society, 
i.e. lotteries intended to raise funds for good causes.  

Society  The society or any separate branch of such a society, on 
whose behalf a lottery is to be promoted.  

Statement of 
Principles  

Matters taken into account when considering an 
applicant’s suitability for applications for FEC Permits and 
prize gaming permits. 

Temporary Use Notice  To allow the use of premises for gambling where there is 
no premises licence but where a gambling operator wishes 
to use the premises temporarily for providing facilities for 
gambling.  

Track  Sites where races or other sporting events take place e.g. 
horse racing, dog racing or any other premises on any part 
of which a race or other sporting event takes place or is 
intended to take place.  

Travelling Fair  A fair that ‘wholly or principally’ provides amusements and 
must be on a site used for fairs for no more than 27 days 
per calendar year.  

Virtual Betting  Machine that takes bets on virtual races, i.e. mages 
generated by computer to resemble races or other events.  

Vulnerable Persons No set definition, but likely to mean groups to include 

46



 
 

9 

people who:- 

• Gamble more than they want to; 

• Gamble beyond their means; 

• Who may not be able to make informed or balanced 
decisions about gambling due to a mental 
impairment, alcohol or drugs. 

Young Person  An individual who is not a child but who is less than 18 
years old.  

 

47



 
 

10 

CONTACT DETAILS OF RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITIES.                         Appendix B                      
Applications for a Premises Licence must be sent to the Licensing Authority and all the 
Responsible Authorities listed.  
 
Applications for Temporary Use Notice (TUN) should be sent to The Licensing Authority, 
Essex Police, The Gambling Commission and H.M Commissioners of Customs and Excise. 
 
Applications for Occasional Use Notices (OUN) should be sent to the Licensing Authority 
and Essex Police. 
 

APPLICATION PROCESS            Appendix C 

This guidance covers those aspects that are the responsibility of the Licensing 
Authority only; guidance on aspects dealt with by the Gambling Commission 
can be obtained via the following link: - www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk 

Premises licences 
A premise’s licence is required for any premises where gambling activity is carried out 
of a type requiring personal and operator’s licences to have been issued by the 
Gambling Commission. 
An application may only be made by persons having the right to occupy the premises 
and who have, or have applied for, an operating licence allowing the proposed 
activities to be carried out. The premise’s licence cannot be granted until the 
necessary operator’s licence has been issued.     
Premise’s licences are issued by the Licensing Authority and are required for casinos, 
bingo premises, betting premises (including tracks and premises used by betting 
intermediaries) adult gaming centres and family entertainment centres providing 
category C gaming machines. 
A licence is restricted to one premise only.  However one set of premises may have 
separate licences issued in respect of different parts of the building.     
Licensing authorities are obliged to grant an application for a premise’s licence, 
provided the application is made in accordance with the Act, the Gambling 
Commission’s guidance and the Licensing Authority’s Statement of Licensing 
Principles.  Licence will be subject of mandatory and default conditions applied by 
regulations issued under the Act.    
Premise’s licences are valid indefinitely from the date of grant unless previously 
surrendered, lapsed, renewed or cancelled.  An annual charge is payable to the 
licensing authority. 
 

48



 
 

11 

  
Bingo, Betting, Arcades (Adult gaming centres & Licensed family entertainment 
centres)  
   
Applicants wishing to commence operating on or after 1 September 2007 may apply 
from 1 January 2007 to the Gambling Commission for an operator’s licence and from 
31 January 2007 to the Licensing Authority for a premise’s licence.   
Tracks 
An operator’s licence is not required from the Gambling Commission to operate a 
track but a premise’s licence from the Licensing Authority is required.  A number of 
premise’s licences may be granted for one track, provided each is for a different part 
of the track.  
Betting is usually divided into on-course, off-course and pool betting, the provision of 
which requires operators to hold either a general betting operator’s licence or a pool 
betting operating licence from the Commission. 
Pool betting on tracks may only be offered by the Tote (in relation to horse-tracks) and 
by the premise’s licence-holder (in relation to dog-tracks).  Pool betting may not be 
provided elsewhere.  
Gaming machines, consisting of a maximum of 4 machines of categories B2 – D, may 
be operated at a track by the premise’s licence-holder provided they hold a pool 
betting operator’s licence (for siting and other special considerations in respect of 
gaming machines at tracks, see ‘the Gambling Commission’s guidance’ at 
www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk).  
Betting machines may also be operated at tracks (see ‘Betting machines’).  
The licensing process is the same as for other premises described above. 
Betting machines 
Betting machines are used for accepting bets on live events such as racing, in place 
of making bets at a counter, e.g. in a betting shop or on a track.  These machines are 
not classed as gaming machines.  The Licensing Authority may impose a limit on the 
number of betting machines that may be used in conjunction with a premise’s licence.  
Gaming machine supply & repair 
These activities require operator’s licences to be issued by the Gambling 
Commission.  For advice on applying for licences from the Commission, see their 
website at www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk).  
Gaming machines in licensed premises 
Premises licences issued under the Gambling Act 2005 automatically authorise the 
provision of gaming machines, according to the type of premises and gambling 
activities permitted (but see also ‘Tracks’).   
The Gambling Act 2005 introduces new classes of gaming machines, as shown in 
figure 1 below.  The category and number of machines that may be operated under a 
premise’s licence are shown in figure 2 below. 

49



 
 

12 

 
Fig. 1 
Category of machine Maximum Stake 

£ 
Maximum Prize 

£ 
A Unlimited Unlimited 

B1 £5 £10000* 

B2 £100 £500 

B3  £2 £500 

  B3A £2 £500 

B4 £2 £400 

C £1 £100 

D - non-money prize (other than a 
crane grab machine or coin 

pusher or penny falls machine) 

30p £8 

D – non-money prize (crane grab 
machine) 

£1 £50 

D – Money prize (other than a coin 
pusher or penny falls machine) 

10p £5 

D- combined money and non-
money prize (other than a coin 
pusher or penny falls machine) 
  D – combined money can non-

money prize (coin pusher or 
penny falls machine) 

10p 
 
 

20p 

£8 (of which no more 
than £5 may be a money 

prize) 
£20 (of which no more 

than £10 may be money 
prize) 

 

* with the option of a maximum £20,000 linked progressive jackpot on a premises 
basis only. 
 
Fig. 2 
 
Type of Authorisation Machine Categories Permitted 

Premise Type A B1 B2 B3 
B3A 

B4 C D 

Regional casino 
(table/ machine ratio 
of 25-1 up to 
maximum) 

Maximum of 1250 machines (subject to a machine/table 
ratio).  Any combination of machines in categories A to D 
(except for B3A machines). 

Large casino (table/ 
machine ratio of 5-1 
up to maximum) 

  
X 

Maximum of 150 machines (subject to a machine/table 
ratio).  Any combination of machines in categories B to 
D (except for B3A machines). 

50



 
 

13 

Small casino (table/ 
machine ratio of 2-1 
up to maximum) 

  
X 

Maximum of 80 machines (subject to a machine/table 
ratio).   Any combination of machines in categories B to 
D (except for B3A machines) 

Converted Casino 
Premises Licence 
(Pre-2005 Act 
Casinos) 

  
X 

Maximum of 20 machines (no machine/table ratio).  
Any combination of machines in categories B to D or C 
or D machines instead (except for B3A machines). 

Betting premises 
(other) 

  
X 

  
X 

Maximum of 4 machines.  Any combination of 
machines in categories B2 to D (except for B3A 
machines). 

Betting premises 
(Track) 

X X As Betting (other), but only if the licence-holder 
also holds a Pool Betting Operating Licence. 

Bingo Premises   
X 

  
X 

  
X 

20% of total 
gaming 
machines# 

  

Unlimited 

Adult gaming centre   
X 

  
X 

  
X 

20% of total 
gaming machines 
# 

Unlimited 

Family Entertainment 
Centre Premises 
Licence 

  
X 

  
X 

  
X 

  
X 

  
X 

Unlimited 

Family Entertainment 
Centre Gaming 
Machine Permit 

  
X 

  
X 

  
X 

  
X 

  
X 

  
X 

Unlimited 

Club Gaming Permit or 
Club Machine Permit 

  
X 

  
X 

  
X 

Maximum of 3 machines 
Members clubs – from Cat. B3a/B4/C/D 
Commercial clubs – from Cat. B4/C/D 

Alcohol-licensed 
premises 
Automatic entitlement 

  
X 

  
X 

  
X 

  
X 

  
X 

1 or 2 machines of 
category C or D  
LA must be notified 

Alcohol licensed 
premises Gaming 
Machine Permit 

  
X 

  
X 

  
X 

  
X 

  
X 

As allowed by permit 

Travelling fair 
(no authorisation 
required) 

  
X 

  
X 

  
X 

  
X 

  
X 

  
X 

Unlimited 

  A B1 B2 B3 
B3A 

B4 C D 

51



 
 

14 

X = category of machines not permitted on this type of premises) 

# AGC/Bingo premises in existence before 13 July 2011 or granted between 
13/07/2011 and 01/04/2014 may provide 4 or 8 (respectively) category B machines, or 
up to 20% of the total number if this is greater. 

Minimum age of 18 years to use Category A, B and C machines.  No age limit on 
Category D machines. 

 
Temporary Use Notices (TUNs) 
 
A TUN may only be issued by a person or company holding an operating licence 
relevant to the proposed temporary use of the premises and may be issued in respect 
of a ‘set of premises’ for a maximum of 21 days in any 12- month period.  (NB. A TUN 
may not be issued in respect of a vehicle). 
A ‘set of premises’ is the subject of a TUN if any part of the premises is the subject of 
the notice.  This prevents one large premise from having a TUN in effect for more than 
21 days per year by giving a notice in respect to different parts.   
In considering whether a place falls within the definition of "a set of premises", the 
Licensing Authorities will consider, amongst other things, the ownership / occupation 
and control of the premises. 
The Licensing Authority should generally aim to permit gambling activities under a 
TUN but will object to notices where it appears that their effect would be to permit 
regular gambling in a place that could be described as one set of premises. 
Issue 
Not less than 3 months and 1 day prior to the day on which the gambling event is to 
take place, a TUN must be given to: - 

• the Licensing Authority, 

• the police, 

• HM Commissioners for Revenue and Customs, and, if applicable, 

• any other licensing authority in whose area the premises are situated. 
The notice must include details of: - 

• the date the notice is given,  

• the gambling activity to be carried on, 

• the premises where it will take place, 

• the dates and times it will take place, 

• any periods during the preceding 12 months that a TUN has had effect for the 
same premises, and 

• any other information prescribed by regulations. 

52



 
 

15 

If there are no objections, the notice will be endorsed by the Licensing Authority and 
returned to the issuer for display upon the premises at the time the activity takes 
place. 
Objections 
Having regard to the licensing objectives, those authorities upon whom the TUN is 
served may make objections within 14 days of the date of the notice to the gambling 
activity taking place.  Objections must be made to the Licensing Authority and TUN 
issuer. 
Modifications to the notice may be suggested by those objecting to it.  If accepted by 
the issuer, a new notice must be issued.  It should be noted that the 3 month, 1 day 
time limit and a new fee will not apply to the new notice, nor may the original 
objector/s object to the new notice.    
A hearing must be held before the Licensing Sub-Committee to hear representations 
from all parties, unless agreement is reached that a hearing is unnecessary, e.g. by 
modification of the notice, within 6 weeks of the date of the notice.  
Following a hearing the Licensing Authority must issue a counter notice setting out 
whether or not the TUN will have effect, any limitations to the activities permitted, the 
time period when activities may take place and any conditions that are imposed.  
 
Occasional Use Notices (OUNs) 
 
Occasional Use Notices may only be issued in relation to tracks that are used on eight 
days or less in a calendar year.   
A track can be any part of a premise on which a race or other sporting event takes 
place or is intended to take place.  Tracks need not be a permanent fixture. 
OUNs are intended to permit licensed betting operators who have the appropriate 
permission of the Gambling Commission to use tracks for short periods for conducting 
betting.  An OUN dispenses with the need for a betting premises licence for the track. 
Issue 
 
The notice may be issued by the person responsible for the administration of events 
on the track or the occupier of the track. 
The notice must be served on the Licensing Authority and a copy on the Chief Officer 
of Police. 
 
Objections 
 
Generally objections may not be made to the issue of an OUN, except the Licensing 
Authority must issue a counter notice where the effect of the OUN would result in 
betting facilities being made available for more than 8 days in a calendar year. 

53



 
 

16 

 
 
 
 

 
   

 

PREMISES WHERE AN OPERATOR’S LICENCE HAS BEEN GRANTED TO 
OPERATE A CASINO, BINGO PREMISES, BETTING PREMISES, ADULT GAMING 

CENTRE OR LICENSED FAMILY ENTERTAINMENT CENTRE 

PREMISES LICENCES 

1. Attach required documentation 
2. Pay prescribed fee 

 
1. Licence lasts indefinitely unless 

surrendered, revoked, etc. 
2. Annual charge payable to 

licensing authority  

1. Annual charge payable to Licensing Authority 

54



 
 

17 

GAMING PERMITS 
Certain types of gambling are authorised by permits issued by the Licensing Authority.  
The permits generally authorise low stake gambling for small prizes by: - 

• Gaming machines in alcohol-licensed premises, member’s clubs, unlicensed family 
entertainment centres (FEC’s) and certain other premises, e.g. taxi offices (see 
’Other premises’ below);  

• Equal chance gaming, games of chance and gaming machines in member’s clubs; 
and  

• Prize gaming, e.g. at travelling fairs.  
 
GAMING MACHINES  
 
The Gambling Act 2005 introduces new classes of gaming machines that may be 
operated under a permit, as shown in figure 3 below.   

Fig. 3 
Category of machine Maximum Stake 

£ 
Maximum Prize 

£ 
B3A 2 500 

B4 2 400 

C 1 100 

D - non-money prize (other 
than a crane grab machine 
or a coin pusher or penny 

falls machine) 

30p 8 

D – non-money prize (crane 
grab machine) 

1 50 

D – non-money prize (other 
than a coin pusher or penny 

falls machine) 

10p 5 

D – combined money and 
non-money prize (other 

than a coin pusher or penny 
falls machine) 

10p £8 (of which no more than £5 may be 
a money prize) 

D – combined money and 
non-Money prize (coin 
pusher or penny falls 

machine) 

20p £20 (of which no more than £10 may 
be a money prize) 

The category and number of machines that may be operated under a premise’s 
licence are shown in figure 2 above. 

55



 
 

18 

 

Fig. 4 
 

Machine category 
Premises Type A B1 B2 B3 B3A B4 C D 
Clubs or miners’ 
welfare institutes 
with permits 

    Maximum of 3 machines 
Members clubs – from Cat. B3a/B4/C/D 
Commercial clubs – from Cat. B4/C/D 

Alcohol Licensed 
Premises 
Automatic 
Entitlement 

   1-2 machines 
LA must be notified 

Alcohol Licensed 
Premises Gaming 
Machine Permit 

  As allowed by permit 

Family 
entertainment 
centre (with permit) 

       Unlimited 

Travelling fair        Unlimited 
 

 
ALCOHOL LICENSED PREMISES  
Certain types of gambling may take place on alcohol-licensed premises under the 
Licensing Act 2003 without any authorisation being required.  Generally these consist 
of the playing of cribbage, dominoes and other games for low stakes. 
Premises holding a premise’s licence may be authorised to operate machines of class 
C or D provided the premise’s licence authorises the sale and supply of alcohol for 
consumption on the premises without it being a condition that the sale and supply of 
alcohol has to be accompanied by food. 
The following paragraphs apply only to those premises. 
 
AUTOMATIC ENTITLEMENT  
The Gambling Act 2005 gives an automatic entitlement for the holder of a premise’s 
licence under the 2003 Act to provide up to two gaming machines on their premises.   
An application for a permit is not required but premise’s licence-holders must notify 
their Licensing Authority in writing of their intention to provide the machines, and pay 
the prescribed fee. 
The entitlement may be withdrawn if provision of the machines is not reasonably 
consistent with the pursuit of the licensing objectives; gaming has taken place on the 
premises that has breached a condition of the Act, e.g. they do not comply with siting 
and operation requirements; the premises are mainly used for gaming; or where an 
offence under the Gambling Act 2005 has been committed on the premises.   
The Licensing Authority may not exercise their powers to remove the entitlement 
without first giving the permit-holder the opportunity to make written or oral 
representations or both.  A hearing will be held before the Licensing Sub-Committee 
for this purpose, unless all parties agree that it is unnecessary. 

56



 
 

19 

 
NEW PERMITS  
Where the holder of a premise’s licence wishes to provide more than two gaming 
machines, an application for a permit must be made to the Licensing Authority with 
the prescribed fee.  There is no restriction on the number of machines that may be 
applied for and applications to vary the number of machines may be made at any 
time.  
In determining an application for an increase in the number of machines, the 
Licensing Authority will consider: - 

• the size of the premises; 

• the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and young 
persons or by vulnerable persons; 

• any documentary evidence, e.g. supporting statistical evidence providing details of 
usage, etc.; 

• each application on its own merits; 

• the Codes of Practice or Guidance issued under the Gambling Act 2005. 
Where the Authority grants the application, a permit will be issued for the number of 
machines authorised, which will include the automatic entitlement of 2 machines.   
Where the Authority intend to refuse an application, or grant it for a different number 
or category of machines to that requested, the applicant will be given the opportunity 
to make written or oral representations or both.  A hearing will be held before the 
Licensing Sub-Committee for this purpose, unless all parties agree that it is 
unnecessary 
Where the premise’s licence is transferred, the gaming machine permit must also be 
transferred or it will lapse.  In all other cases the permit will last indefinitely, unless 
surrendered or revoked.   
Although the permit will not need to be renewed, an annual charge will have to be 
paid to the Licensing Authority.  
A permit issued under section 34 that is in force on 1 September 2007 will continue to 
have effect until its natural expiry date.      
Where a ‘section 34 permit’ for 2 or less machines expires after 1 September 2007, at 
least 2 months before its expiry the premise’s licence-holder must notify the Licensing 
Authority in writing of their intention to provide 2 (or less) machines and pay the 
prescribed fee.  
 
Where a ‘section 34 permit’ for more than 2 machines expires after 1 September 
2007, the premise’s licence-holder must apply for a new permit at least 2 months 
before its expiry and pay the prescribed fee.  A new permit must be issued for the 
same number of machines the previous permit authorised. 
 
 
 
 

57



 
 

20 

MEMBERS’ CLUBS  
The Gambling Act 2005 permits a member’s club holding a club premise’s certificate 
issued under the Licensing Act 2003, or miner’s welfare institute, to hold a club 
gaming permit allowing participation in equal chance gaming or playing games of 
chance (see ‘Appendix A’ for definitions of ‘equal chance gaming’ and ‘games of 
chance’).  In addition they may operate a maximum of 3 machines of either class B3A, 
B4, C or D.   
The Act also permits a member’s club holding a club premise’s certificate or a 
commercial club holding a premise’s licence under the Licensing Act 2003 to operate 
a maximum of 3 machines of either class B4, C or D under a club machine permit. 
New permits 
Applications for a permit for premises already holding a club premise’s certificate are 
subject to a ‘fast-track’ procedure that prevents the making of objections, and restricts 
the ability of the Licensing Authority to refuse the application. 
An application under this process may be refused if the club is established primarily 
for gaming (other than that permitted); if in addition to the permitted gaming, facilities 
are provided for other gaming; or that a club machine permit issued to the applicant 
within the preceding 10 years has been cancelled. 
An application and payment of the prescribed fee is required.  A permit has effect for 
10 years unless surrendered or revoked.  
Applications for a permit for premises not holding a club premise’s certificate e.g. a 
commercial member’s club with a premise’s licence, may be refused by the Licensing 
Authority on the grounds that the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a 
member’s or commercial club; the premises are used wholly or mainly by children and 
/ or young persons; an offence under the Act or breach of a permit has been 
committed by the applicant while providing gaming facilities; a permit held by the 
applicant has been cancelled in the previous 10 years; an objection has been made 
by the police or Gambling Commission.  
Permits may be varied at any time to meet changing circumstances, other than an 
increase above 3 to the number of machines.  Licensing authorities may only refuse a 
variation if, on consideration of the proposed variation as a new application, they 
would refuse a permit. 
A permit will lapse if the holder no longer qualifies as a member’s club or no longer 
qualifies under the ‘fast-track’ system, or the permit is surrendered.   A permit may be 
cancelled if the premises are used wholly or mainly by children and / or young 
persons or where an offence under the Act or breach of a permit condition has been 
committed by the applicant in the course of gaming activities. 
Permits are valid for 10 years from the date of grant unless previously 
surrendered, lapsed, renewed or cancelled.  An annual charge is payable to the 
licensing authority. 
A registration that is in force on 1 September 2007 will continue to have effect until it’s 
natural expiry date. Upon expiry a club will be entitled to apply for either a club gaming 
permit or club machine permit irrespective of the type of registration previously held. 

58



 
 

21 

An application for a new club machine permit must be made at least 2 months before 
the existing registration expires together with the prescribed fee. 
  

OOTTHHEERR  PPRREEMMIISSEESS  
Premises such as taxi offices, take-away restaurants, cafes etc. are prohibited from 
obtaining a gaming machine permit under the Gambling Act 2005 and will be unable 
to operate gaming machines of any kind. 
 
UNLICENSED FAMILY ENTERTAINMENT CENTRES  
 
The Licensing Authority may grant an application for a permit for category D gaming 
machines in an unlicensed family entertainment centre (FEC) provided it is satisfied 
the premises will be used as an unlicensed FEC and that the Chief Officer of Police 
has been consulted.  There are no limits to the number of machines that may be 
applied for in an unlicensed FEC.    
The Authority will apply its Statement of Principles in consideration of an application, 
e.g. requiring an applicant to demonstrate they have no relevant convictions, that they 
have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes permissible and that staff 
have a similar understanding.  
An application for a permit will have to be accompanied by plans of the premises and 
a current certificate issued by the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS)  in respect of 
the applicant, i.e. a certificate issued within the previous 28-day period.  The 
requirement in respect of the DBS certificate will be satisfied, where the applicant is a 
person who is a sole proprietor of the premises, by submission of a certificate in 
respect of that person or, where an applicant is a company or partnership, by 
submission of a certificate in respect of the person normally having day-to-day control 
of the premises.   
The Authority may refuse an application for renewal of a permit only on the grounds 
that an authorised local authority officer has been refused access to the premises 
without reasonable excuse, or that renewal would not be reasonably consistent with 
the pursuit of the licensing objectives.  
Where the Authority intends to refuse an application, the applicant will be given the 
opportunity to make written or oral representations or both.  A hearing will be held 
before the Licensing Sub-Committee for this purpose, unless all parties agree that it is 
unnecessary. 
In determining an application, the Licensing Authority need not have regard to the 
licensing objectives but must have regard to any Gambling Commission guidance. 
Permits will last for 10 years unless it ceases to have effect because it is surrendered, 
it lapses or it is renewed. There is no annual charge payable to the Licensing 
Authority. 
Unlicensed FECs may also offer equal chance gaming under the authority of their 
gaming machine permit.    
New permits 

59



 
 

22 

Applications for new permits may be made to the Licensing Authority  
PRIZE GAMING  
 
Prize gaming may be carried on in premises under a permit issued by the Licensing 
Authority.  A prize gaming permit will not authorise the use of gaming machines.   
The Authority may apply its Statement of Principles in consideration of an application, 
e.g. requiring an applicant to demonstrate they have no relevant convictions, that they 
have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes permissible and that staff 
have a similar understanding. 
The Authority may refuse an application for renewal of a permit only on the grounds 
that an authorised local authority officer has been refused access to the premises 
without reasonable excuse, or that renewal would not be reasonably consistent with 
the pursuit of the licensing objectives.  
An application for a permit will have to be accompanied by plans of the premises and 
a current certificate issued by the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) in respect of 
the applicant, i.e. a certificate issued within the previous 28-day period.  The 
requirement in respect of the DBS certificate will be satisfied, where the applicant is a 
person who is a sole proprietor of the premises, by submission of a certificate in 
respect of that person or, where an applicant is a company or partnership, by 
submission of a certificate in respect of the person normally having day-to-day control 
of the premises.   
Where the Authority intends to refuse an application, the applicant must be given the 
opportunity to make written or oral representations or both.  A hearing will be held 
before the Licensing Sub-Committee for this purpose, unless all parties agree that it is 
unnecessary. 
In determining an application, the Licensing Authority need not have regard to the 
licensing objectives but must have regard to any Gambling Commission guidance. 
A prize gaming permit will last for 10 years unless it ceases to have effect or is 
renewed.  There is no annual charge payable to the Licensing Authority. 
 
New permits 

Applications for new permits may be made to the Licensing Authority. 
 
Prize gaming without a permit 
 
Prize gaming without a Prize Gaming Permit may be carried on in any premises with a 
Premise’s Licence issued under the Gambling Act 2005, except that casinos may not 
offer prize bingo.   
Unlicensed FECs may also offer equal chance gaming only, under the authority of 
their gaming machine permit.    
Travelling fairs may also offer equal chance gaming only without a permit provided the 
facilities for gaming are ancillary amusements to the fair. 

60



 
 

23 

 
 
 
TRAVELLING FAIRS  
 
Travelling fairs do not require a permit to provide gaming machines but must comply 
with codes of practice on how they are operated.   
Travelling fairs may provide an unlimited number of category D machines and prize 
gaming in the form of equal chance gaming provided that facilities for gambling 
amount to no more than ancillary amusement at the fair. 

61



 
 

24 

 
 
 
 

 
   

 

PREMISES WHERE THE LICENCE PERMITS THE SALE OF ALCOHOL FOR 
CONSUMPTION ON THE PREMISES AND THE SALE IS NOT CONDITIONAL UPON 

FOOD BEING SOLD MAY HAVE GAMING MACHINES OF CLASS C OR D 

ALCOHOL LICENSED PREMISES 

UP TO 2 MACHINES 

1. Automatic entitlement to 2 
machines    

2. Notify Licensing Authority in 
writing of proposed intention to 
operate machines. 

3. Pay prescribed fee 

MORE THAN 2 MACHINES  
1. Apply to Licensing Authority  
2. Attach statistical justification 

showing ‘need’ 
3. Attach plan of premises 

showing location of machines   
4. Pay prescribed fee 

1. Permit has effect from date of 
grant unless surrendered or 
cancelled 

2. Annual charge to be paid to 
Licensing Authority 

BUT 
1. Permit holder must be given 21 days notice of the intention to withdraw or cancel 
2. Hearing must be held if permit holder requests one 
3. Withdrawal or cancellation has no effect until 21 days has elapsed from notice being 

served where no hearing is requested or 21 days following a hearing or appeal. 
 

1. Licensing authority can withdraw entitlement for 2 machines where their provision is not 
consistent with licensing objectives; gaming has taken place in breach of a condition; 
premises are used mainly for gaming; an offence under the Act has been committed. 

2. Licensing authority can cancel a permit where the premises are used wholly, or mainly, by 
children or young persons or an offence under the Act has been committed. 

 

62



 
 

25 

 
 

 
 
   

MAXIMUM OF 3 CATEGORY B3A, B4, C OR D MACHINES 

Applications for new permits 
and renewals must be made to 

Licensing Authority 

ATTACH TO APPLICATION 
1. Club Premises Certificate 

(for fast track applications) 
2. Rules of club (if not CPC)  
3. Plan of premises showing 

location of machines 
4. Prescribed fee 

MEMBERS’ CLUBS 

1. Copy of application and 
accompanying documents 
to police & Gambling 
Commission  

2. Objections may be made 
(except to ‘fast-track’ 
applications) 

3. Permit lasts 10 years 

Application for grant may be refused if: - 
1. Applicant does not qualify as a member’s or commercial club or miner’s welfare 

institute.  
2. The premises are used wholly or mainly by children or young persons.  
3. An offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed while providing 

gaming facilities.  
4. A permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in previous 10 years.  
5. An objection has been made by police or Commission. 

 

Application for renewal must be sent to licensing authority with fee between 3 and 6 
weeks before permit expires and may only be refused on the same grounds as for 
original grant. 
Duration of the permit will not be curtailed while a renewal application is pending or 
where an appeal against a refusal to renew is outstanding 

 63



 
 

26 

 

 
 
 
   

 

PERMIT MAY BE ISSUED FOR PREMISES WHOSE PRIMARY USE IS AS AN 
UNLICENSED FAMILY ENTERTAINMENT CENTRE TO HAVE AN UNLIMITED 

NUMBER OF GAMING MACHINES OF CLASS D 

UNLICENSED FAMILY ENTERTAINMENT CENTRE 

NEW PERMIT TO OPERATE 
    

1. Attach information required by 
Statement of Principles 

2. Attach plan of premises 
showing location of machines   

3. Consult Chief of Police 
4. Pay prescribed fee 

Application for grant may be refused if the grant would not be reasonably consistent with the 
licensing objectives, e.g. convictions making the applicant unsuitable, the location and type of 
premises being unsuitable, issues concerning disorder.  

Application for renewal must be sent to licensing authority with fee between 2 and 6 months 
before permit expires and may only be refused if an authorised officer has been refused access 
to the premises w/o reasonable excuse, or renewal would not be reasonably consistent with the 
licensing objectives.  Duration of the permit will not be curtailed while a renewal application is 
pending or where an appeal against a refusal to renew is outstanding. 

 

Permits will lapse if: - 
1. Licensing authority notifies holder premises are no longer being used as an unlicensed FEC 
2. Holder no longer occupies premises 
3. Holder dies, becomes mentally incapacitate, bankrupt or, in case of a company, ceases to 

exist or goes into liquidation 
4. Court orders holder to forfeit permit 
5. Holder surrenders or fails to renew it. 

64



 
 

27 

 

 
 
 
   

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

PRIZE GAMING PERMITS MAY ONLY BE ISSUED IN RESPECT OF PREMISES FOR 
WHICH THERE IS NO PREMISES LICENCE OR CLUB GAMING PERMIT ISSUED 

UNDER THE GAMING ACT 2005  

PRIZE GAMING PERMIT 

1. Attach information required by 
Statement of Principles 

2. Attach plans of premises 
3. Pay prescribed fee 

Application for grant may be refused if the grant would not be reasonably consistent with 
the licensing objectives, e.g. convictions making the applicant unsuitable, the location 
and type of premises being unsuitable, issues concerning disorder.  
Application for renewal must be sent to licensing authority with fee between 2 and 6 
months before permit expires and may only be refused if an authorised officer has been 
refused access to the premises w/o reasonable excuse, or renewal would not be 
reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives.  Duration of the permit will not be 
curtailed while a renewal application is pending or where an appeal against a refusal to 
renew is outstanding. 
 

 

Permits will lapse if: - 
1. Holder no longer occupies premises 
2. Holder dies, becomes mentally incapacitate, bankrupt or, in case of a company, 

ceases to exist or goes into liquidation 
3. Court orders holder to forfeit permit 
4. Holder surrenders or fails to renew it 

65



 
 

28 

LOTTERIES 
 
A lottery is unlawful unless it is run in accordance with an operating licence 
issued by the Gambling Commission, or it is exempt.  This advice covers only 
those categories of lottery that are exempt.   For more information on the 
licensing requirements for lotteries, see the Gambling Commission’s website on 
www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk  
The Gambling Act 2005 defines 4 categories of lottery that are exempt from needing 
an operating licence: -   

• Incidental non-commercial lottery  

• Private lottery  

• Customer lottery 

• Small society lottery   
Only a small society lottery is required to be registered with the Licensing Authority. 
Applications must be made by the promoting society to the licensing authority for the 
area in which the principal address of the society is located.  The Licensing Authority 
must record details of the society in a register and notify the applicant and the 
Gambling Commission of the registration. 
The Licensing Authority will require applicants to declare: - 

• the purposes for which the society is established,  

• that they represent a bona fide non-commercial society, and 

• that they have no relevant convictions.  
The Licensing Authority may refuse an application if: - 

• they consider the applicant is not a non-commercial society,  

• any person who will or may be connected with the promotion of the lottery has 
been convicted of a relevant offence, or 

• information provided in or with an application is false or misleading.  
An application shall be refused if an operating licence held or applied for by the 
applicant has been revoked or refused in the previous 5 years. 
The Licensing Authority may revoke a registration where it believes the grounds exist 
that would permit or require it to refuse an application for registration. 
Where the Licensing Authority intend to refuse or revoke the registration application it 
will give the society: - 

• details of the reasons, 

• evidence upon which it reached the decision, and  

• the opportunity to make written and/or oral representations.   

66



 
 

29 

NEW REGISTRATIONS  
 
An application for registration with the prescribed fee must be made to the Licensing 
Authority under the Gambling Act 2005.  The registration will be valid indefinitely with 
an annual fee being payable to the Licensing Authority. 
Lottery requirements 
 
To ensure the main purposes of the lottery are met: - 

• the society must apply a minimum of 20% of the proceeds of the lottery to the 
purposes of the society,  

• no single prize may exceed £25,000,  

• rollovers may be permitted provided every lottery affected is also a small society 
lottery by the same society and the maximum single prize does not exceed 
£25,000, and 

• every ticket must cost the same and must be paid for before being entered into the 
draw. 

Returns 
 
No later than 3 months after making the draw (or in the case of a rollover, the last 
draw), a return must be sent to the Licensing Authority that: - 

• has been signed by 2 members of the society over 18 years of age who are 
appointed for the purpose in writing by the society, or its governing body, if it has 
one, 

• is accompanied by a copy of the member’s letter of appointment,  
and include the following details: - 

• the dates when tickets were available for sale,  

• the dates of any draw and value of prizes, including any rollover,  

• the proceeds raised, 

• the amounts deducted for prizes and expenses incurred in organising the lottery, 

• the amount applied or to be applied to the purposes of the promoting society, and 

• whether any expenses incurred in connection with the lottery were paid for other 
than from the proceeds of the lottery and, if so, the amount and the source/s from 
which they were paid. 

 
EXTERNAL LOTTERY MANAGERS 
External lottery managers require operator’s licences issued by the Gambling 
Commission.  For more information, see the Gambling Commission’s website on 
www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk 

67



 
 

30 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

PROMOTED BY A NON-COMMERCIAL SOCIETY ESTABLISHED FOR CHARITABLE 
PURPOSES; FOR PURPOSE OF ENABLING PARTICIPATION IN OR OF 

SUPPORTING SPORT, ATHLETICS OR CULTURAL ACTIVITY; OR FOR OTHER NON 
–COMMERCIAL PURPOSES OTHER THAN PRIVATE GAIN 

SMALL SOCIETY LOTTERIES 

REGISTRATION TO OPERATE 
    

 
1. Attach information required: - 

(a) Purpose for which society 
established 

(b) Confirm bona fides of 
society as non-commercial 

(c) Declare convictions, if any 
2. Pay prescribed fee 
3. Registration valid for life, 

annual fee payable to licensing 
authority 

Registration may be refused if: - 
1. Society is not considered to be non-commercial  
2. Any person connected with promotion of lottery has been convicted of relevant offence , or  
3. Information provided in application is false/misleading  
4. Registration must be refused if an operating licence held by or applied for by the applicant has 

been revoked or refused in the previous 5 years 
5. Registration may be revoked where grounds exist for an application for registration to be 

refused.  
BUT a registration will not be refused or revoked unless the society has been informed of the 
reasons and the evidence supporting them & been given the opportunity to make representations. 
 

 

Lottery requirements: - 
1. Society must apply minimum 20% of proceeds to purposes of society 
2. No single prize to exceed £25000 
3. Rollovers permitted provided all lotteries effected are small society lotteries & maximum 

single prize does not exceed £25000 
4. Tickets must cost same, be paid for before being entered in draw & include details of society, 

price, name & address of person responsible for promotion of the lottery & date of draw 
Returns, which must be made no later than 3 months after draw, must be signed by 2 
members and include details of: - 

5. Dates tickets were available for sale, dates of draw & value of prizes 
6. Proceeds raised, amounts deducted for prizes, expenses incurred in organising lottery & 

where any were paid for other than from proceeds of lottery, the amount and source 
7. Amount to be applied to purposes of the promoting society. 
 

68



 
 

31 

  DESCRIPTION OF THE DISTRICT           Appendix D
  
   
 

69



 
 

32 

Appendix E 
 
ADVICE FOR THOSE WHO HAVE DIFFICULTY UNDERSTANDING ENGLISH 
           

THE FOLLOWING WORDING IS TRANSLATED INTO SEVERAL LANGUAGES TO 
ASSIST THOSE WHOSE FIRST LANGUAGE IS NOT ENGLISH. 
 
THE ENCLOSED PAPERS ARE VERY IMPORTANT.   
IF YOU HAVE DIFFICULTY READING OR UNDERSTANDING ENGLISH, 
PLEASE CONTACT SOMEONE WHO CAN HELP YOU IMMEDIATELY. 
 

 
 
ALBANIAN 
 

 
 

Letrat e bashkangjitura jane shume te rendesishme. 
Nese keni veshtersi per te lexuar ose kuptuar gjuhen angleze  
ju lutemi kontaktoni dikend per te ju ndihmuar menjehere.   

 
 

 
 

ARABIC 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

BENGALI 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

CHINESE 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
GUJARATI 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

HINDI 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

70



 
 

33 

 
 

 
 

KURDISH 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
PUNJABI 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

TURKISH 
 

 
İlişikteki kağıtlar çok önemlidir. 

İngilizceyi okumakta veya anlamakta zorluk çekiyorsanız size  
derhal yardım edebilecek birisiyle lütfen temas kurunuz. 

 
 

 
 

 
URDU 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

71



 
 

34 

TERMS OF REFERENCE AND DELEGATION OF POWERS          Appendix F 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

72



 
 

35 

LIST OF CONSULTEES       Appendix G 
 
The following organisations and individuals were consulted as part of the formal 
consultation exercise on the Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy: 
 
 
 

 

 

USEFUL CONTACTS                Appendix H 

The Gambling Commission maintains a list of useful contacts on organisations 
involved in gambling and their contact details can be found on the Commission’s 
website www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk.  Some of these organisations provide 
codes of practice on their particular interest area. 
 
 

 
 

 

73



REPORT TO: LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 22 MARCH 2016 
 

TITLE: TAXI AND PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING, 
REPORT ON CONSULTATION 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

MICHAEL PITT (01279) 446114 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER: DAVID TAYLOR (01279) 446148 
 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A The Licensing Committee approves as proposed, changes to Taxi and 

Private Hire Licensing Conditions recommended in the report ‘Implementation 
of the Deregulation Act: Taxi Licensing’ presented to Licensing Committee on 
7 July 2015, attached at Appendix 1 . 
 

B The Licensing Committee approves new arrangements to provide child 
sexual exploitation and disability awareness training to new and existing 
Hackney Carriage and private hire drivers prior to issue of a new or renewed 
licence, as set out at paragraphs 10 and 11 of this report.  

 
BACKGROUND 
 
1.  Harlow Council issues Driver, Vehicle and Operator licenses under the 

provisions of The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.  
The Act has been amended by The Deregulation Act 2015. 
 

2.  Licensing Committee members will be aware that proposals to modify 
licensing conditions were placed before the Licensing Committee on 7 July 
2015 in a report attached at Appendix 1.  The Committee asked that 
stakeholders be consulted on the changes and a further report be brought 
before the Committee. 
 

3.  Consultation with stakeholders has now concluded and the team can now 
report. 
 

4.  Further, the Licensing Team is currently developing closer links with relevant 
agencies to provide enhanced training and support to prospective and 
licensed drivers on the subject of Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE).  A 
renewed emphasis has been placed on CSE following recent events and the 
publication of the Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation in 
Rotherham by Alexis Jay OBE.  Licensed drivers are potentially in a position 
to identify and report certain patterns of behaviour if given the appropriate 
training: in effect to act as “eyes and ears” for the community. 

74

Agenda Item 9



ISSUES/PROPOSALS 

5.  The Licensing Team held a 4 week consultation with the trade and 
stakeholders.  The consultation was placed on the Council’s website and 
highlighted in a newsletter sent to all drivers during December 2015.  A copy 
of the consultation document is attached at Appendix 2.  No responses were 
received from the members of the trades, trade representatives, or other 
stakeholders. 
 

6.  The Council has made provision for drivers to apply for three year licenses 
and for Operators to apply for five year licenses.   
 

7.  The Licensing Team has successfully implemented new operational 
arrangements for medical and DBS checks as detailed in the 7 July 2015 
report. 
 

8.  Taxi and private hire drivers are in a unique position within the community in 
relation particularly to potentially vulnerable passengers.  As part of the 
application process, new drivers have been required to watch a short DVD 
dealing with safety and equality issues.  However, the training offered has not 
been revised for some time and does not directly address issues raised in the 
Jay report around combatting child sexual exploitation in particular.  
 

9.  Current arrangements are now considered to fall short of best practice in this 
regard.  The Licensing Team have consulted with the Youth and Citizenship 
Manager and Essex Safeguarding Children’s Board’s (ESCB), Child Sexual 
Exploitation Project Manager to consider measures that can be taken to 
continue to build on our safeguarding duties in respect of the exploitation of 
children and we will continue to liaise and seek advice and support with the 
ESCB to develop our understanding of the issue.  
 

10.  It is now proposed that drivers be required to complete a short Council-
approved CSE and equalities awareness course prior to being licensed for 
the first time.  Existing drivers will be required to undertake the course prior to 
being relicensed and thereafter undertake a refresher course every three 
years.  Training will be at the expense of the applicant.  It is proposed that 
policy on licensing conditions be amended accordingly.   
 

11.  The proposed course programme for CSE training is set out in Appendix 3. 
The programme for proposed revised disability awareness training is being 
developed with trainers.  The training may be refined as necessary on the 
advice of safeguarding professionals and following feedback from delegates. 
It is to be delivered to delegates at the Civic Centre by external specialist 
trainers (the Council meeting venue costs).  The training cost is likely to be 
between £40 and £50 per delegate session.  The Council expects to be able 
to offer early delegates a subsidy after securing funds from the Police and 

75



Crime Commissioner’s office. 
 

IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (includes Sustainability) 
Contained within the report. 
Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
Training costs associated with the proposal to be contained within existing 
budgets. 
Author: John Dyson Principal Finance Manager for Simon Freeman, Head of 
Finance  
 
Housing 
None specific. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
Raising awareness of CSE is essential to prevention and stopping it early when it 
does happen.  Adopting the approach set out in the report will help the Council 
fulfil its role to safeguard children. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (includes HR) 
The proposals in the report are to implement a process that will discharge the 
Council’s statutory duty under the 2015 Act. 
Author: Brian Keane, Head of Governance 
 
 
Background Papers 
[These are papers referred to in the preparation of the report that are not 
attached as appendices but that are available for public or Councillor study.] 
 
Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation in Rotherham (1997 – 2013) 
http://www.rotherham.gov.uk/downloads/download/139/independent_inquiry_into
_child_sexual_exploitation_in_rotherham_1997_%E2%80%93_2013  
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
CSE     Child Sexual Exploitation 
 
DBS     Disclosure and Barring Service 
 
 

76

http://www.rotherham.gov.uk/downloads/download/139/independent_inquiry_into_child_sexual_exploitation_in_rotherham_1997_%E2%80%93_2013
http://www.rotherham.gov.uk/downloads/download/139/independent_inquiry_into_child_sexual_exploitation_in_rotherham_1997_%E2%80%93_2013


APPENDIX 1 

REPORT TO: LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 7 JULY 2015 
 

TITLE: IMPLEMENTATION OF THE DEREGULATION 
ACT: TAXI LICENSING 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

MICHAEL PITT, ENVIRONMENT AND 
LICENING MANAGER  
(01279) 446114 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER:  DAVID TAYLOR, PRINCIPAL 
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICER 
(01279) 446148 

 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A the Committee approves consultation on the proposals set out at paragraphs 

13 to 18 of the report. 
 

B a further report setting out the outcome of consultation be presented to a 
future meeting of the Licensing Committee 
 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
1.  Harlow Council issues annual licences to drivers of Hackney Carriages and 

Private Hire Vehicles under the provisions of Part II of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.   The 1976 Act has been amended by 
the Deregulation Act 2015, sections 10 and 11.  The changes require 
Licensing Authorities to issue drivers’ and operators’ licences for a period of 
three and five years respectively, or for a lesser period to be determined on a 
case by case basis.  Harlow Council must amend its policy to take account of 
these changes.  These changes will take effect from 1October 2015. 
 

2.  Currently drivers’ licences are renewed each year, generally in the week 
before the license expires.   The changes to be introduced through the 
Deregulation Act 2015 (the 2015 Act) will mean that licenses will last for three 
years, unless there is a specific justification in the individual case for the 
licences to be issued for a shorter time. The intention is to reduce the amount 
of administration involved in licensing. 
 

3.  Similarly, the 2015 Act amendment requires that operator licences are issued 
every 5 years or such lesser period as the Council shall determine on a case 
by case basis.  
 

4.  To satisfy itself that an applicant is a fit and proper person to be licensed, the 

77



APPENDIX 1 

Council, among other things, currently undertakes an enhanced level 
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) check on the applicant.  This check is 
repeated every 3 years.  The cost to the applicant of the DBS check is 
currently £44.00. 
 

5.  The 2015 Act will permit operators to assign bookings to other operators, for 
example where there is a long journey and logistically or economically it 
would be preferable for another company to fulfil the booking.  

 
ISSUES 

6.  It will be important to ensure that all licences and DBS certificates commence 
and expire concurrently, so that DBS certificates remain current throughout 
the three-year licence period, to avoid the situation where licensed drivers are 
asked to submit new DBS certificates mid-term. 
 

7.  For this reason applicants would have to provide a new DBS certificate at the 
time they renew their licence, although some drivers may have had a DBS 
carried out within the last one or two years.   
 

8.  Current practice can result in an applicant being licensed or relicensed whilst 
the results of a DBS check are awaited.  It would be preferable for DBS 
checks to be completed at the point of formal application. 
 

9.  Some applicants might not wish to be licensed for three or five years; for 
example they might intend to move away from the area, or they might prefer 
the flexibility of a shorter licence.  In some circumstances the Council might 
have valid reason to issue a shorter licence.   
 

10.  At present, Council licensing conditions require operators to keep records of 
each booking.  If bookings were assigned to others, it may become more 
difficult for the Council to examine records, which might be necessary for 
example in the case of complaint.  
 

11.  Current video-based safety and equalities training may be satisfactory for 
relatively short licence terms, but when licences last for three years improved 
training (if practicable) is likely to be an advantage. 
   

12.  Currently no fees applicable to a longer licence periods have been set 
through the Council’s fees and charges setting process. 

 

PROPOSALS 

13.  To streamline the licensing process, applicants will in future be required to 
make an application for a DBS check 60 days before a licence application or 

78



APPENDIX 1 

renewal. Licenses will not be issued or renewed without a current DBS 
certificate.  The Licensing Team will send out reminder letters to existing 
drivers and operators at least 60 days before their license is due to expire and 
will offer assistance to licence holders and new applicants where they 
experience difficulty with the administration of this process.  Operators will be 
required to provide a new DBS certificate at the application stage and at the 
mid-point of the five-year license. 
 

14.  To provide greater flexibility, licence holders will be able to apply for renewal 
up to 28 days before their current licence expires.  This will be of assistance 
to licence holders who wish to take a holiday in the period just before expiry 
of their licence, for example. 
 

15.  One-year driver licences will be offered as well as three-year licenses.  These 
would cheaper than a three-year licence, though would cost more than one 
third of the cost of a three-year licence.  Similarly, it is proposed to offer 
operators the option of a shorter licence of one or two years at the request of 
the applicant. 
 

16.  The Council will issue a one-year licence to drivers over 65 years of age or 
with a relevant pre-existing medical history.  The licence will be renewed 
following a satisfactory medical examination in accordance with DVLA 
Medical Standards for Fitness to Drive requirements. 
 

17.   Licensing conditions will require operators to keep and, if necessary, produce 
such records of any subcontracted booking as will allow the Licensing 
Authority to reasonably investigate any booking, as effectively as if it had not 
been subcontracted.    
 

18.  It is proposed to examine the options for enhanced training to provide new 
applicants with sufficient training to meet the reasonable expectations of  
persons with disabilities and other users.  Other valuable training, for 
example, first aid and advance driving skills, might also be considered subject 
to practicalities. 
 

19.  Representatives of the licensed trades will be consulted on the proposed 
changes to licensing practice and proposed fees and charges applicable to 
longer licensed periods will be subject to the statutory consultation process 
set out in the licensing legislation.  A further report presenting the outcome of 
consultation will be submitted to the next meeting of the Licensing Committee. 
 

IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (includes Sustainability) 
As set out in the body of the report. 
Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 

79



APPENDIX 1 

 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
The changes will bring a new charging structure for the renewal of licences.  The 
report sets out the changes to provide options for 3 and 5 year licenses but also 
highlights that one year licenses will also be offered.  Until such time as the 
consultation is completed with the trade representatives it is not possible to 
quantify the financial impact of the proposals.  Any impacts on income will be 
provided where possible in further reports after the consultation is complete. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance  
 
Housing 
None specific. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
Proposals intended to improve driver training particularly in relation to the needs 
of groups with protected characteristics are to be welcomed. 
Author: Jane Greer, (Acting) Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (includes HR) 
The proposals in the report are to implement a process that will discharge the 
Council’s statutory duty under the 2015 Act. 
Author: Amanda Julian, Legal Services Manager, on behalf of Brian Keane, 
Head of Governance 
 
 
Background Papers 
 
The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976  
The Deregulation Act 2015 
 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
The 1976 Act: The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
The 2015 Act: The Deregulation Act 2015 
DBS: Disclosure and Barring Service (formerly Criminal Records Bureau, CRB) 
DVLA: Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency 
 
 

80



APPENDIX 2 

 

 

Licensing of Hackney Carriage 
Drivers, Private Hire Drivers and 
Private Hire Operators  

Consultation with the Trade and 
Stakeholders  

 
 
Harlow Council has reviewed how it issues driver and vehicle licenses and is 
changing the way in which licenses are issued. 
 
Why are these changes necessary?   
Some sections of the Deregulation Act 2015 dealing with Private Hire and Hackney 
Carriage Licensing came into force on 1st October 2015.  The Act requires that the 
Council make available 3 year driver licenses and 5 year Operator licenses.  Annual 
licenses may be issued on a case by case basis and therefore drivers and Operators 
may continue to apply for annual licenses should it suit them. 
 
Are further changes likely?   
Yes.  The Council is currently reviewing all its policies and conditions with the aim of 
consolidating them into one single document.  This will help everyone to find what 
they are looking for.   The Council will take the opportunity to make some 
modifications but does not propose making wholesale changes.  The Council will 
consult the trade on these further changes next year.   
 
The Council would like to hear your views on the matters listed below.  If you would 
like to comment it would help the Council if you would provide the following 
information; 
 

1. Your full name,  
2. Identify the item that you are commenting on, 
3. Tell us what you support and what you do not support, 
4. Provide alternative suggestions or improvements and, 
5. Comment on how the Council could adopt alternative measures to achieve its 

aims. 
 

Item 1 
The Council previously allowed drivers and Operators to make a DBS application on 
renewal of their licence.  The Council will now require that drivers provide the 
Council with a DBS certificate at the time the licence is issued and the DBS must 
remain current for the period of the licence.  Drivers applying for a 3 year licence will 
be required to synchronise their licence renewal and DBS check.  The Council 
recognises that the licence and DBS are unlikely to expire on the exact same date 

81



and therefore some short leeway will be given at the end of the first three-year 
licence period, provided that the driver has joined the DBS update service.   (The 
DBS update service allows the applicant to check his/her DBS status anytime online)   
https://www.gov.uk/dbs-update-service  Operators applying for a five-year licence 
will be required to apply for a new DBS when their certificate expires( after three 
years) or join the DBS update service.  The Council will initially help applicants by 
sending out reminder letters to advise them of the need to make a DBS application 
but it will be the applicant’s obligation to obtain the certificate.  In future years the 
Council will expect the applicant to keep note of when their DBS is due to expire and 
make a renewal as required should they not choose to join the update service.  
 
Why has this change been made?  This will ensure that drivers and Operators do not 
remain licensed without a valid DBS certificate which would undermine the purposes 
for which DBS checks are made and, potentially place the public at risk.  
 
Please comment. 
 
Item 2 
The Council wishes to provide greater flexibility to licence holders when applying for 
a driver licence or vehicle licence.  The Council proposes allowing drivers to apply 
for their driver licence up to, but no longer than, 21 calendar days before expiry of 
their licence and, to present their vehicles for MOT/compliance testing and licensing 
up to 14 calendar days before expiry of their vehicle licence.   The annual licences 
will still expire on the anniversary of the previous licence expiry date.   Please note 
that vehicles presented for testing prior to the expiry of their licence which fail the 
MOT standard will be suspended until necessary work had been undertaken.   
 
Why make these changes?  This will give drivers and vehicle proprietors more 
flexibility over the date of licence renewal. This will be helpful should the licensee 
wish to take a holiday or have important business during the week that their vehicle 
or driver licence is due for renewal.   
 
Please comment.  
Would this be helpful to drivers and vehicle proprietors? 
Should the 14 and 21 day period be longer or shorter? 
 
Item 3 
Three-year driver licences are now available as well as annual licenses.  Similarly, 
five-year and annual Operator licenses are available to Operators.  Longer licenses 
will reduce the annual cost of licensing in accordance with Harlow Council’s 
published fees. 
 
Why make these changes?  These changes have been introduced because of new 
requirements introduced by The Deregulation Act 2015. 
 
Please comment 
Should the Council issue a licence of less than 1 year? 
Should a 2 year licence be made available? 
Should a 3 year Operator licence be available? 
 

82

https://www.gov.uk/dbs-update-service


Item 4 
The Council will issue a one-year licence to drivers over 65 years of age and to 
drivers with a relevant medical condition. The licence will only be renewed 
following issue of a satisfactory medical examination certificate in accordance with 
DVLA Medical Standards for Fitness to Drive requirements.   The Council recognises 
that the medical and licence are unlikely to expire on the exact same date and 
therefore some short leeway will be given at the end of the licence period.   Drivers 
applying for a three-year licence may need to synchronise their medical examination 
with their licence application.   The Council will in all cases require a new medical 
certificate at not more than five-year intervals.   
 
Why is this necessary?  To ensure that licensed drivers are certified medically fit to 
drive a Private Hire or Hackney Carriage Vehicle and, to ensure that drivers hold a 
current medical certificate (not older than 5 years) throughout the duration of their 
licence. 
 
Please comment 
 
Item 5 
Licensing conditions will require that Operators keep and where necessary, produce 
records of all subcontracted bookings to allow the Licensing Authority to investigate 
any booking, as effectively as if it had not been subcontracted. 
 
Why is this necessary?  To enable the Council to investigate complaints made 
against a driver or Operator where the booking had been subcontracted.   
 
Please comment 
 
Item 6 
Licensed Trade representatives have indicated that drivers would like to obtain their 
medical assessment from more than one provider.  The Council has indicated that it 
would be content for drivers to obtain their medical assessment from any one of up 
to 6 nominated local providers.   
 
Why is this necessary?  This may promote competition, bring lower costs and, allow 
greater flexibility. 
 
Please comment 
Which local providers should be able to undertake the assessments? 
How many providers should be able to provide the assessments? 
 
Item 7 
The Council will consider the options for enhanced training to ensure that new and 
existing drivers are able to;  

• Meet the reasonable expectations of persons with disabilities, 
• Meet the needs of vulnerable users and, 
• Guard against child sexual exploitation (CSE).   

 
The training may also include components dealing with personal safety and 
measures the driver may take to avoid or deal with vexatious complaints.  Early 

83



enquiries suggest that such training may cost between £40 and £100 per person.  
The Council will bring forward proposals to require refresher training periodically, 
every three or five years. 
 
Why is this necessary?  This is necessary to enhance public safety, safeguard 
children and, provide licensed drivers with an understanding of their responsibilities 
under the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 and Equality Act 2010. 

Please comment 
 
Should refresher training be done every three, or every five years? 
Should the training costs be paid by the driver on completion of the training or be 
incorporated into the annual licence fee?  
 
Comments may be sent in writing to; 
 
Michael Pitt, Environment and Licensing Manager 
Harlow Council 
The Water Gardens  
Harlow, Essex. CM20 1WG 
 
Or by email to licensing@harlow.gov.uk  
 
The consultation will close Friday 15th January 2016 

84

mailto:licensing@harlow.gov.uk


APPENDIX 3 

 

Draft Harlow CSE awareness session content: 

• What is child sexual exploitation? 
• How you can help stop it-e.g.  being aware of children and young people you 

think may be at risk. Being conscious of concerning addresses, patterns in 
addresses/ adults linked to them, behaviour of young passengers travelling 
with adults etc.   

• Myths and stereotypes (e.g. it only happens in certain communities, most 
children that are at risk are in care, perpetrators always work together in 
groups, who are the perpetrators – imp. here to recognise that taxi drivers in 
some areas have played a prominent role in moving children and young 
people and that those individuals have been abused and used for sex- and 
the impact this has on the trade and public confidence/ attitudes as well as 
providing balancing examples of different profiles.  

• Offenders and victims 
• The vulnerabilities of young people 
• Models of grooming- how does it happen 
• Trafficking – movement of children, young people and vulnerable adults- what 

trafficking is and how it applies to them 
• Indicators and how you can spot it  
• Scenario’s- your role- what could you do- how / what information do you need 

to collect 
• Local data/picture  
• How to report a concern /who to/local procedures 

 

85



REPORT TO: SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 2 FEBRUARY 2016 
 

TITLE: REVIEW OF FIXED ODDS BETTING TERMINALS 
– FINAL REPORT 
  

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

GRAEME BLOOMER, HEAD OF PLACE (01279) 
446270 
 

CONTRIBUTING 
OFFICERS:  

MICHAEL PITT, ENVIRONMENT AND LICENSING 
MANAGER (01279) 446114 
 

DIANNE COOPER, PLANNING AND BUILDING 
CONTROL MANAGER (01279) 446595 

 
RECOMMENDED that the Committee: 
 
A Recommends to Licensing Committee that the Council’s statement of 

Gambling Act Licensing Policy be reviewed to place more emphasis on local 
risks as set out at paragraph 29 of the report. 

  
B Receives a final report at a future date to inform it of the outcome of the 

review recommended at A above. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1.  Fixed odds betting terminals (FOBTs) are electronic machines, which can 

contain a variety of games, of which roulette is the most widely known. The 
machines accept bets up to a fixed maximum and pays out according to fixed 
odds on the simulated outcomes of games. 
 

2.  After their first appearance, a regulatory mechanism was developed for 
FOBTs and incorporated into The Gambling Act 2005 (the Act). FOBTs are 
classified as B2 gaming machines for the purposes of the Act. To comply with 
the law, they may only be sited on licenced betting premises, that is, betting 
shops, with no more than four B2 machines permitted on any one site. The 
maximum stake on a single bet is limited to £100, the maximum prize is £500. 
 

3.  The Gambling Commission is responsible for the licensing of betting shop 
operators, while the Council as the local licensing authority is responsible for 
issuing premises licences to individual sites. 
 

4.  The Council is also the local planning authority and because FOBTs may 
only lawfully be sited in betting shops, any land use planning constraints that 
apply to betting shops can indirectly influence the prevalence of FOBTs.   

86

Agenda Item 10a



GAMBLING ACT 2005 PREMISES LICENSING 

5.  Provided that an operator’s licence has been granted by the Gambling 
Commission, the Council must by section 163 of the Act determine an 
application for a premises licence. In doing so it must apply the principles set 
out in section 153 of the Act and observe relevant regulations made under the 
Act. 
 

6.  The principles to be applied under section 153 require the Council to 
disregard any consideration of demand or otherwise for the facilities and to 
permit the use of the premises for gambling in so far as the Council thinks it: 
 
(a) in accordance with any relevant code of practice under section 24; 
 
(b) in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Commission 
under section 2; 
 
(c) reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives (subject to (a) and (b)); 
and 
 
(d) in accordance with the statement published by the Council under section 
349 (subject to paragraphs (a) to (c)). 
 

7.  Codes of practice under section 24 of the Act are published by the Gambling 
Commission. The code of practice provisions that relate to machine gambling  
apply to holders of Gambling Commission operating or personal licences 
rather than premises licences and deal with: cooperation with the 
Commission, responsibility for third parties, anti-money laundering, protection 
of children and other vulnerable persons, combating problem gambling, 
advertising and marketing, responsible gambling information for staff, and 
information requirements. 
 

8.  The Gambling Commission issues guidance to local licensing authorities to 
which the Council must have regard. This is currently in its 5th edition, 
published in September 2015. The guidance amongst other things draws 
attention to limitations on the Council’s scope for exercise of discretion in 
betting premises licensing. These include: requirements of the Act; mandatory 
conditions set by Regulations under the Act; the requirement to demonstrate 
a regulatory case to remove a default condition and replace it with a more 
stringent condition; the requirement to ensure that the principles in s153 are 
observed if a default condition is dis-applied; and the advice that licensing 
authorities should not add more stringent requirements where mandatory 
conditions exist or where matters are covered by the operator’s licence. 
 

9.  The Licensing Objectives are set out in section 1 of the Act as follows: 
 

87



(a) preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime; 
(b) ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; and 
(c) protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling. 
 

10.  The Guidance states that the Council “must aim to permit the use of premises 
for gambling and so should not attach conditions that limit their use except 
where it is necessary in accordance with the licensing objectives, the 
Commission’s codes of practice and this Guidance, or their own statement of 
policy. Conversely, licensing authorities should not turn down applications for 
premises licences where relevant objections can be dealt with through the 
use of conditions.” 
  

11.  The Council has adopted a Statement of Licensing Policy under the Gambling 
Act 2005 intended to reflect the statutory requirements and Gambling 
Commission Guidance. The Policy will be updated to reflect amendments in 
the 5th edition of the Guidance recently published by the Commission. 
  

12.  The effect of the statutory provisions and guidance is that the primary law, 
regulations, and Operator’s Licence issued by the Commission will deal with 
the number and nature of FOBTs, and the social responsibility elements of 
licensing requirements, and that in general, the Council will licence betting 
premises on duly made application and will refrain from applying locally-
devised conditions unless premises-specific considerations require it, 
because it would be unlikely to be able to uphold them on appeal if it did 
otherwise. 
 

13.  The latest edition of the Guidance does however strengthen the Council’s 
ability to take into account specific risks to the Licensing Objectives 
associated with a particular locality. This will be considered on revision of the 
Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy under the Gambling Act 2005 on 
which the Licensing Committee will make recommendations to Full Council in 
accord with its work plan and past practice. 

 

LAND USE PLANNING CONTROLS 

14.  Any new betting shop must now obtain planning permission, so there is, 
subject to appropriate policy, the opportunity to consider any adverse impact 
which might for example arise from “clustering” of betting shops in a given 
location. 
 

15.  This may impact on the prevalence of FOBTs because FOBTs are permitted 
only in betting shops and are limited to four machines per betting shop. A 
measure that may constrain the number of betting shops may accordingly 

88



constrain the number of FOBTs. 
 

16.  The Council’s Planning and Building Control Manager has reported 
separately to the Committee on the land use planning controls that affect 
betting shops and pay day lending premises. A recommendation to include in 
the emerging Local Plan a policy to address such “clustering” of betting shops 
was approved. 
  

APPROACH ADOPTED BY OTHER LICENSING AUTHORITIES 

17.  Gambling Act licensing policies available from councils expected to be similar 
to Harlow have been considered.  
 

18.  Basildon Council states that it will develop “local area profiling so that existing 
licensees and new applicants can develop policies, procedures and control 
measures to mitigate those local risks”. Basildon Council will be able to 
require applicants to set out how they will tackle such risks, as part of the 
premises licensing process, allowing more emphasis on protecting those 
at risk of problem gambling 
 

19.  Stevenage Borough Council’s Gambling Act Licensing Policy states:  
The “Licensing Authority expects applicants for Premises Licences in its area 
to always submit a risk assessment with their application. The risk 
assessment should demonstrate the applicant has considered, as a minimum, 

 Local crime statistics 

 Any problems in the area relating to gambling establishments such 
as antisocial behaviour 

 The location of any nearby sensitive premises such as hostels and 
other facilities used by vulnerable persons e.g. drug and alcohol 
addictions 

 Whether there is any prevalence of street drinking in the area, 
which may increase the risk of vulnerable persons using the 
premises 

 Whether there is any indication of problems with young persons 
attempting to access adult gambling facilities in that type of 
gambling premises in the area. 

Applicants should liaise with other gambling operators in the area to identify 
risks and consult any relevant responsible authorities as necessary”  
  

EVIDENCE FROM ORGANISATIONS SUPPORTING PEOPLE AFFECTED BY 
PROBLEM GAMBLING 

20.  GamCare is a national charity that promotes a responsible approach to 
gambling and helps those harmed by problem gambling. Services are 
provided on its behalf in this area by Breakeven who when contacted on the 
availability of evidence on problem gambling associated with FOBTs in 

89



Harlow commented: 
 
“GamCare/ Breakeven offer a confidential service, for this reason data for 
publication/release is not intended to identify by Town or City however we can 
report 17% of calls received during 2013/14 were from the South East region, 
up 4% from the previous year.”  
 
“Nationwide during 2013/14 the main gambling activities disclosed by callers, 
clients were as follows: FOBT/Roulette Machines 30% (2012/13: 32%), 
betting 31% (2012/13: 31%), and Fruit/Slot machines 19% (2012/13: 19%).” 
 
“Advice, information and counselling is available free of charge for anyone 
who may be affected by problem gambling. GamCare services are available 
for Harlow residents at local partner Breakeven or nationwide, please call 
Freephone 0808 8020133 or visit www.gamcare.org.uk” 
 

21.  Breakeven also provided links to relevant national research and statistics that 
are reproduced below under Background Papers. 
 

THE POSITION OF THE GAMBLING INDUSTRY 

22.  The gambling industry’s position on FOBTs appears to be reasonably 
summarised in the Association of British Bookmakers’ (ABB) submission to 
the Department of Culture Media and Sport’s triennial review. 
 

23.  The ABB state that research has not shown a causal link between FOBTs 
and problem gambling; most users gamble modestly and the income from 
FOBTs supports the industry which in turn provides employment and makes a 
valuable contribution to local economies. 
 

24.  The ABB has produced a code on social responsibility stating  
that “if monitoring and evaluation (of the measures outlined below) by the 
ABB Responsible Gambling Committee... shows the measures are only 
marginally effective, then ABB and its members are also committed to 
replacing measures or changing the specific metrics associated with these 
measures. As new technological solutions emerge they will also be assessed 
in terms of improving harm minimisation standards”. The Gambling 
Commission applies social responsibility criteria in operator licensing process.   
  

25.  The Council is required to consult on any replacement statement of Gambling 
Act Licensing Policy; updating policy as necessary to reflect the 5th edition of 
Gambling Commission guidance will provide an opportunity for local 
businesses to comment specifically on local issues.   
  

 

90

http://www.gamcare.org.uk/


ISSUES/PROPOSALS 

26.  The presence of fixed odds betting terminals in betting shops, social 
responsibility issues, regulations governing the nature of the machines are 
dealt with at national level. 
 

27.  The Council, as the local licensing authority, has an opportunity to increase 
the focus on risk, by conducting a local risk profiling exercise and ensuring 
that applicants for premises licences properly take account of local risks in 
their proposals when making their applications. 
 

28.  It is proposed that the Council’s statement of Gambling Act Licensing Policy 
be reviewed by the appropriate statutory mechanism through Licensing 
Committee. 
   

29.  The proposed review would incorporate local risk profiling by the Council and 
a requirement on applicants for betting premises licences to assess and 
specifically address relevant risks in their applications. 
 

30.  The Scrutiny Committee will, subject to Recommendation B above, be 
advised of progress by way of a final report to be received on completion of 
the proposed review.   

 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (includes Sustainability) 

The Council’s regulatory role is defined by the law as set out in the report and 
resources are constrained to achieving the statutory functions; however the 
proposals made are achievable within existing resources and are expected to 
assist in focussing resources on specific risks.  
Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 

 

Finance (Includes ICT) 
None specific. 

Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance  

 
Housing 

None specific. 

Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 

 
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 

None specific. 

Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 

 
Governance (includes HR) 
As set out in the report. 

91



Author: Brian Keane, Head of Governance 
 

 
Background Papers 
[Background Papers are papers referred to in the preparation of the report that 
are not attached as appendices but that are available for public or Councillor 
study.] 
 
GamCare Statistics 2013/14, GamCare 
http://www.gamcare.org.uk/sites/default/files/file_attach/Statistics%20201314%20web.pdf 

 

Identifying harm? Potential markers of harm from industry data, Responsible 
Gambling Trust 
http://www.responsiblegamblingtrust.org.uk/user_uploads/pdfs/machines%20summary%20collection.pdf 

 
The truth about betting shops and gaming machines –submission to DCMS 
Triennial Review, Association of British Bookmakers 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/248922/Association_of_British_Bookmakers.pdf   

 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
FOBT    Fixed Odds Betting Terminal 
 
B2 Gaming Machine A statutory definition of a category of gaming machine 

under section 235 of the Gambling Act 2005 that are 
also known as FOBTs 

 
ABB Association of British Bookmakers 

92

http://www.gamcare.org.uk/sites/default/files/file_attach/Statistics%20201314%20web.pdf
http://www.responsiblegamblingtrust.org.uk/user_uploads/pdfs/machines%20summary%20collection.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/248922/Association_of_British_Bookmakers.pdf

	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes

	6 Committee Work Plan
	7 Public Space Protection Orders
	8 Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Policy
	Statement of Licensing Policy Appendix
	(Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres
	Casinos
	16.0 PROVISIONAL STATEMENTS
	Premises licences
	A premise’s licence is required for any premises where gambling activity is carried out of a type requiring personal and operator’s licences to have been issued by the Gambling Commission.
	Premise’s licences are issued by the Licensing Authority and are required for casinos, bingo premises, betting premises (including tracks and premises used by betting intermediaries) adult gaming centres and family entertainment centres providing cate...
	Premise’s licences are valid indefinitely from the date of grant unless previously surrendered, lapsed, renewed or cancelled.  An annual charge is payable to the licensing authority.
	The licensing process is the same as for other premises described above.


	Gaming machines in licensed premises
	The notice must be served on the Licensing Authority and a copy on the Chief Officer of Police.
	Generally objections may not be made to the issue of an OUN, except the Licensing Authority must issue a counter notice where the effect of the OUN would result in betting facilities being made available for more than 8 days in a calendar year.
	PREMISES LICENCES
	PREMISES WHERE AN OPERATOR’S LICENCE HAS BEEN GRANTED TO OPERATE A CASINO, BINGO PREMISES, BETTING PREMISES, ADULT GAMING CENTRE OR LICENSED FAMILY ENTERTAINMENT CENTRE
	1. Annual charge payable to Licensing Authority

	 Equal chance gaming, games of chance and gaming machines in member’s clubs; and
	 Prize gaming, e.g. at travelling fairs.
	Fig. 3
	Fig. 4
	Where a ‘section 34 permit’ for 2 or less machines expires after 1 September 2007, at least 2 months before its expiry the premise’s licence-holder must notify the Licensing Authority in writing of their intention to provide 2 (or less) machines and p...
	Where a ‘section 34 permit’ for more than 2 machines expires after 1 September 2007, the premise’s licence-holder must apply for a new permit at least 2 months before its expiry and pay the prescribed fee.  A new permit must be issued for the same num...
	Permits are valid for 10 years from the date of grant unless previously surrendered, lapsed, renewed or cancelled.  An annual charge is payable to the licensing authority.
	New permits
	Prize gaming without a permit


	Machine category
	ALCOHOL LICENSED PREMISES
	PREMISES WHERE THE LICENCE PERMITS THE SALE OF ALCOHOL FOR CONSUMPTION ON THE PREMISES AND THE SALE IS NOT CONDITIONAL UPON FOOD BEING SOLD MAY HAVE GAMING MACHINES OF CLASS C OR D
	up to 2 machines
	MORE THAN 2 MACHINES

	MEMBERS’ CLUBS
	MAXIMUM OF 3 CATEGORY b3a, b4, C OR D MACHINES
	ATTACH TO APPLICATION

	PERMIT MAY BE ISSUED FOR PREMISES WHOSE PRIMARY USE IS AS AN UNLICENSED FAMILY ENTERTAINMENT CENTRE TO HAVE AN UNLIMITED NUMBER OF GAMING MACHINES OF CLASS D
	UNLICENSED FAMILY ENTERTAINMENT CENTRE

	NEW PERMIT TO OPERATE AFTER 1 SEPTEMBER 2007
	Prize gaming PERMITS MAY ONLY BE ISSUED IN RESPECT OF PREMISES FOR WHICH THERE IS NO PREMISES LICENCE OR CLUB GAMING PERMIT ISSUED UNDER THE GAMING ACT 2005
	PRIZE GAMING PERMIT

	PROMOTED BY A NON-COMMERCIAL SOCIETY ESTABLISHED FOR CHARITABLE PURPOSES; FOR PURPOSE OF ENABLING PARTICIPATION IN OR OF SUPPORTING SPORT, ATHLETICS OR CULTURAL ACTIVITY; OR FOR OTHER NON –COMMERCIAL PURPOSES OTHER THAN PRIVATE GAIN
	SMALL SOCIETY LOTTERIES

	REGISTRATION TO OPERATE AFTER 1 SEPTEMBER 2007


	9 Taxi and Private Hire Licensing, Report on Consultation
	consultation Appendix 1
	consultation Appendix 2
	consultation Appendix 3

	10a Reference from Scrutiny Committee - Review of Fixed Odds Betting Terminals

